OVERRIDING JURY SENTENCING RECOMMENDATIONS IN FLORIDA CAPITAL CASES: AN UPDATE AND POSSIBLE HALF-REQUIEM

Michael L. Radelet*

2011 MICH. ST. L. REV. 793

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	793
I. THE OVERRIDE IN INDIANA, DELAWARE, AND ALABAMA	796
A. Indiana	796
B. Delaware	798
C. Alabama	801
II. THE OVERRIDE IN FLORIDA	804
III. LIFE-TO-DEATH OVERRIDES IN FLORIDA	808
IV. DEATH-TO-LIFE OVERRIDES IN FLORIDA	812
CONCLUSION	815
APPENDIX A	825
APPENDIX B	828
APPENDIX C	835

INTRODUCTION

In mid-2011, Florida housed nearly 400 prisoners on its death row, more than any other state except California.² Between 1972 and mid-2011 it

Michael L. Radelet, Ph.D. (sociology) is Professor of Sociology, University of Colorado-Boulder. I would like to thank Margaret Vandiver (University of Memphis), Steve Walter (Office of the Federal Public Defender, Sacramento), and especially Theresa Farley (formerly with the Office of Capital Collateral Representative, Tallahassee) for their voluntary assistance over the past thirty years keeping track of Florida capital cases. I thank Paula Sites for her assistance in gathering information on overrides in Indiana; Valerie Hans, Kevin O'Connell, and Bernard O'Donnell for their assistance with gathering the Delaware data; and Bryan Stevenson and Aaryn Urell for supplying the data from Alabama. I am grateful to these six experts for teaching me about the death penalty statutes in their respective states, and to David Menschel and Judge O.H. Eaton, Jr. for their helpful comments on an earlier draft of this paper. I also thank Jane Thompson in the Wise Law Library, University of Colorado, for her assistance, and Hugo Adam Bedau for his suggestion some thirty years ago to pursue this line of research. Finally, I thank the Institute of Behavioral Science, University of Colorado (Jane Menken, Director) for providing outstanding research facilities and support. This Article is dedicated to the memory of David C. Baldus, a friend, scholar, and mentor. I first met Professor Baldus some 30 years ago. At the time I was fresh out of graduate school,

conducted sixty-nine executions, ranking fourth behind Texas, Virginia, and Oklahoma.³ The abundance of both death sentences and executions in Florida is because Florida's death penalty scheme allows the ultimate punishment to become a possible sentence in almost every first-degree murder case. Florida is also one of only four states that has allowed judges in the past four decades to sentence defendants to death even after the trial jury has recommended a life sentence.⁴ Overriding the jury's recommendation was also possible in Indiana until 2002,⁵ and still is possible in Delaware⁶ and Alabama,⁷ three states that have statutes that "are modeled after Florida's trifurcated capital sentencing scheme." But none of these states have sentenced nearly as many inmates to death as Florida after the trial jury in the case (from which, like in all death penalty cases, those standing firmly opposed to the death penalty have been excused) recommended that the defendant should not be executed.

One of the pioneers in conducting research in this area is the late Michael Mello, who passed away in 2008 after a distinguished career at Vermont Law School.¹⁰ We both began writing about it in 1985,¹¹ and Professor

with no background in criminology in general or in the death penalty in particular. Yet, David took time—lots of it—to listen, help me tweak my ideas, and help fuel my passion for this type of work. He continued to do so when I last saw him at the conference in East Lansing in April 2011 that gave rise to this issue of the *Michigan State Law Review*. And at that meeting, he spent a considerable amount of time with the younger scholars, still listening, still tweaking, and still fueling. He will continue to lead us on for many decades in the future.

- 1. On September 25, 2011, Florida had 397 inmates under sentence of death. *Death Row Roster*, FLA. DEP'T OF CORR., http://www.dc.state.fl.us/activeinmates/deathrowroster.asp (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).
- 2. DEATH PENALTY INFO. CTR., FACTS ABOUT THE DEATH PENALTY 3 (2011), available at http://www.deathpenaltyinfo.org/documents/FactSheet.pdf.
 - 3. *Id*.
 - 4. FLA. STAT. ANN. § 921.141 (2)(3) (West 2011).
 - IND. CODE ANN. § 35-50-2-9(e) (West 2011).
- 6. Del. Code Ann. tit. 11, § 4209(d) (West 2011). Delaware juries do not vote directly on sentences in capital cases, but instead vote on a parallel question: whether the aggravating circumstances outweigh any mitigating circumstances. *Id.* If jurors do find this, it is tantamount to a death recommendation. *See infra* note 57 and accompanying text.
 - 7. ALA. CODE §§ 13A-5-47(e) (2011).
- 8. LaTour Rey Lafferty, Florida's Capital Sentencing Jury Override: Whom Should We Trust to Make the Ultimate Ethical Judgment?, 23 FLA. St. U. L. Rev. 463, 464 (1995).
- 9. Cf. Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 519-20 (1968) (holding that a jury could not be "[c]ulled of all who harbor doubts about" the death penalty).
- Michael Mello, Vt. L. Sch., http://www.vermontlaw.edu/x8019.xml (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).
- 11. Michael Mello & Ruthann Robson, Judge Over Jury: Florida's Practice of Imposing Death over Life in Capital Cases, 13 Fl.A. St. U. L. Rev. 31 (1985); Michael L. Radelet, Rejecting the Jury: The Imposition of the Death Penalty in Florida, 18 U.C. Davis L. Rev. 1409 (1985) [hereinafter Rejecting the Jury].

Mello later wrote other articles about the Florida override.¹² He was cocounsel for "Crazy" Joe Spaziano, in whose case the United States Supreme Court ruled that the Florida override procedure passed constitutional muster.¹³ Professor Mello and I co-authored two papers. The first described the first post-*Furman* case in Florida where an inmate was executed for killing a black victim.¹⁴ The second article focused on the jury override in Florida, especially on cases in which the jury recommended death, but the judge imposed life.¹⁵ The names, dates, and places of fifty-one such death-to-life overrides in Florida were presented. The purpose of this Article is to update that 1992 Article.

Since 1972 there have been 166 cases in which a defendant was sentenced to death after the trial jury recommended sentences of life imprisonment. Curiously, the last case in which a judge overrode a jury recommendation of life in Florida was 1999. Although there is always the possibility of an afterlife, it appears reasonable to suggest that it is now time for a requiem for Florida's life-to-death override. After discussing the life-to-death cases, this Article updates the list of fifty-one death-to-life cases that were documented in 1992 by adding another forty to the inventory of known cases in which defendants were sentenced to life after their Florida trial juries had recommended death sentences. Looking at the whole picture, this Article proposes a "half-requiem" for the Florida override. The life-to-death overrides have disappeared, perhaps forever, and it is time to give them a final requiem and ban their future use. On the other hand, looking at the

^{12.} Michael Mello, Taking Caldwell v. Mississippi Seriously: The Unconstitutionality of Capital Statutes that Divide Sentencing Responsibility Between Judge and Jury, 30 B.C. L. Rev. 283 (1989) [hereinafter Taking Caldwell v. Mississippi Seriously]; Michael Mello, The Jurisdiction to Do Justice: Florida's Jury Override and the State Constitution, 18 Fl.A. St. U. L. Rev. 923 (1991).

^{13.} Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). For a case analysis, see Jeffrey Alan Wellek, Eighth Amendment — Trial Court May Impose Death Sentence Despite Jury's Recommendation of Life Imprisonment, 75 J. CRIM. L. & CRIMINOLOGY 813 (1984). Professor Mello also wrote at length about the case and (especially) his role in it. MICHAEL MELLO, THE WRONG MAN (2001).

^{14.} That inmate was James Dupree Henry, executed on September 20, 1984. Michael L. Radelet & Michael Mello, Executing Those Who Kill Blacks: An Unusual Case Study, 37 MERCER L. REV. 911 (1986) [hereinafter Executing Those Who Kill Blacks]. Mello and I were interested in the case because research at the time had shown that in Florida, those who were convicted of killing blacks rarely were sentenced to death. Michael L. Radelet, Racial Characteristics and the Imposition of the Death Penalty, 46 Am. Soc. Rev. 918 (1981). Henry was executed for the murder of an African-American victim, making it a rare case. In our project we demonstrated that in Henry's case there was far more press coverage about the wounded white police officer than about the deceased black victim. Executing Those Who Kill Blacks, supra, at 923-24.

^{15.} Michael L. Radelet & Michael Mello, Death-to-Life Overrides: Saving the Resources of the Florida Supreme Court, 20 Fl.A. St. U. L. Rev. 195 (1992).

^{16.} See cases listed infra Appendix B.

other side of overrides, the death-to-life overrides continue to occur at an approximate rate of two or three per year.

The analysis begins with a brief look at the three states that joined Florida in allowing trial judges to reject jury recommendations in capital cases.

I. THE OVERRIDE IN INDIANA, DELAWARE, AND ALABAMA

A. Indiana

When the Indiana legislature enacted a post-Furman¹⁷ death penalty statute in 1977, it followed Florida's death penalty scheme. The trial jury was required to make a non-binding sentence recommendation to the trial judge, but the ultimate decision of what sentence to impose was left to the discretion of the court. ¹⁸ Originally trial courts were not given directions on when it might be appropriate to override jury recommendations of life. This changed in 1989, however, when the Indiana Supreme Court attempted to specify when it would be appropriate for a judge to reject a jury's sentence recommendation:

In order to sentence a defendant to death after the jury has recommended against death, the facts justifying a death sentence should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could disagree that death was appropriate in light of the offender and his crime. A trial court cannot override the jury's recommendation unless the facts meet this standard.¹⁹

Thus, the Indiana Supreme Court sent a clear message to trial courts that it would permit life-to-death overrides only in the most unusual circumstances.

In 2002, the override in Indiana ended when Governor Frank O'Bannon signed legislation that required judges in death penalty cases to follow the jury's sentencing recommendations.²⁰ The legislation also increased the minimum age for death penalty eligibility to eighteen years old

^{17.} Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). The *Furman* decision, in effect, invalidated all existing death penalty statutes in the U.S., forcing states that wished to retain the death penalty to rewrite their statutes.

^{18.} IND. CODE § 35-50-2-9(d), (e) (1998). For an overview and critique of this law, see Jason C. Tran, *Death by Judicial Overkill: The Unconstitutionality of Overriding Jury Recommendations Against the Death Penalty*, 30 LOY. L.A. L. REV. 863, 874-76 (1997).

^{19.} Martinez Chavez v. State, 534 N.E.2d 731, 735 (Ind. 1989).

^{20.} See 2002 Ind. Acts 1734; Chris Sundheim, O'Bannon Signs Bill Preventing Juvenile Execution, EVANSVILLE COURIER & PRESS, Mar. 27, 2002, at B9; Joel M. Schumm, Recent Developments in Indiana Criminal Law and Procedure, 36 Ind. L. Rev. 1003, 1003-13 (2003). The legislation went into effect on July 1, 2002. 2002 Ind. Acts 1731.

at the time of the crime.²¹ Thereafter, judges in capital cases were permitted to make sentencing decisions only in cases where the jury cannot unanimously agree on a sentence: "If a jury is unable to agree on a sentence recommendation after reasonable deliberations, the court shall discharge the jury and proceed as if the hearing had been to the court alone."²²

Between 1977 and 2002, there were ten death sentences imposed on nine defendants after trial juries recommended prison sentences rather than death. These cases are listed in Table 1.²³ None of these defendants were executed, and none remain on death row today. Appellate courts have vacated all the death sentences imposed after jury recommendations of life.

At the same time, Indiana trial judges had the power under the 1977 statute to reject a jury's recommendation of death, and instead impose a sentence of life imprisonment. Indeed, Indiana case law suggests that trial judges in the state had much more freedom to reject jury recommendations of death than jury recommendations of life.²⁴ Death-to-life overrides occurred in nine cases between 1977 and 2002. These cases are listed in Table 2.

Under the authority of the 1977 statute, by late September 2011, Indiana had executed twenty inmates, ²⁵ and another fourteen remain on the state's death row. ²⁶ Because none of these thirty-four inmates had a jury recommendation of life imprisonment, the override has become nothing more than a footnote documenting a failed attempt to increase the number of executions in Indiana's death penalty history.

^{21. 2002} Ind. Acts 1730 §§ 1(b)(1), 2(d); Laura Emerson, Death Sentences To Be Up To Jurors: New Law Takes Decision From Indiana Judges, J. GAZETTE (Ft. Wayne, Ind.), Mar. 31, 2002, at 1C.

^{22.} IND. CODE ANN. § 35-50-2-9(f) (West 2011).

^{23.} In her discussion of Indiana overrides, Russell listed several cases that she believed involved an override that apparently did not. Katheryn K. Russell, *The Constitutionality of Jury Override in Alabama Death Penalty Cases*, 46 ALA. L. REV. 5, 19 n.113 (1994) (discussing the cases of Miller, Conner, Evans, Games, and Spranger).

^{24.} See Radelet & Mello, supra note 15, at 204 (discussing Daniels v. State, 561 N.E. 2d 487 (Ind. 1990)).

^{25.} Searchable Execution Database, DEATH PENALTY INFO. CENTER, http://www.deathpenaltyinfo.org/executions (select "IN" in the state field, and press "Search by Details") (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).

^{26.} IND. PUB. DEFENDER COUNCIL, INDIANA DEATH ROW INMATES 1-2 (2011), available at http://www.in.gov/ipdc/general/indianadeathrow.pdf.

B. Delaware

Between 1977 and 1991, Delaware law required that decisions to sentence defendants to death be made only by unanimous juries.²⁷ However, in December 1990, two guards were murdered in an armored car robbery in Wilmington, igniting calls for the execution of the four perpetrators. Despite the outcry, in October 1991, following jury recommendations, all were sentenced to consecutive terms of life imprisonment.²⁸ In response, the Delaware legislature amended the state's death penalty statute to make the jury's sentencing vote a recommendation to the trial judge, rather than binding.²⁹ This legislation, clearly designed to increase the number of people sentenced to death, was signed into law on November 4, 1991.³⁰

Since this statutory change, Delaware judges have overridden a jury recommendation of life in only two cases, and both involved the same defendant: Sadiki J. Garden. Mr. Garden was convicted of a series of robberies and attempted robberies that occurred in December 1999, and one resulted in the death of Denise Rhudy.³¹ For Rhudy's death he was convicted of both intentional murder and felony murder, and his trial jury recommended life sentences by ten-to-two and nine-to-three votes respectively.³² Nonetheless, Superior Court trial judge John E. Babiarz disagreed, rejected the jury's recommendation, and sentenced Garden to death.³³

On appeal the Delaware Supreme Court affirmed the convictions, but the death sentences were vacated.³⁴ The case was returned to trial court for reconsideration of the sentences, with no new jury. Judge Babiarz then issued an opinion highly critical of the state supreme court's decision and, in the end, reimposed the death sentences.³⁵ On appeal, the new death sentence was vacated by the Delaware Supreme Court, and the case was returned to the trial court with orders to impose a life sentence.³⁶

^{27.} Loren C. Myers & Gayle P. Lafferty, *Capital Punishment, in* Delaware Supreme Court: Golden Anniversary 1951-2001, at 177-93 (Randy J. Holland & Helen L. Winslow eds., 2001).

^{28.} Robertson v. State, 630 A.2d 1084, 1086 (Del. 1993).

^{29.} *Id.*; see also Sheri Lynn Johnson, John H. Blume, Theodore Eisenberg, Valerie P. Hans & Martin T. Wells, *The Death Penalty in Delaware: An Empirical Study, in* CORNELL LAW FACULTY PUBLICATIONS PAPER 110, at 4-6 (2008), available at http://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/lsrp_papers/110.

^{30.} See State v. Cohen, 604 A.2d 846, 849 (Del. 1992).

^{31.} Garden v. State, 815 A.2d 327, 331 (Del. 2003).

^{32.} Id. at 332-33.

^{33.} Id. at 331.

^{34.} Id. at 347.

^{35.} State v. Garden, 831 A.2d 352, 365 (Del. Super, Ct. 2003).

^{36.} Garden v. State, 844 A.2d 311, 318 (Del. 2004).

On the other hand, from 1991 through 2011 there have been seventeen cases in Delaware that resulted in life sentences after trial judges overrode jury recommendations of death:

Defendant's Name	Votes for Death	Year of Sentence
 Michael Jones³⁷ 	11	2005
 Michael Keyser³⁸ 	10	2005
3. Donald Simmons ³⁹	10	1992
4. Meri-Ya Baker40	9	1992
5. Byron Dickerson ⁴¹	9	1992
6. Ronald Hankins ⁴²	9	2008
7. Jose Rodriguez ⁴³	9	1993
8. Jermaine Barnett ⁴⁴	8	2002
9. Hector Barrow ⁴⁵	8	2002
10. Arthur Govan ⁴⁶	8	1993
11. Darrel Page47	8	2003
12. John Watson ⁴⁸	8	1993

- 37. State v. Jones, No. 9911016309, 2008 WL 4173816, at *2 (Del. Super. Ct. Sept. 3, 2008). Jones was seventeen years old at the time of the offense. Subsequent to the elevento-one jury recommendation but prior to the imposition of sentence, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its decision in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 575 (2005), precluding a death sentence for an offender under the age of eighteen at the time of the homicide offense. *Jones*, 2008 WL 4173816, at *2.
- 38. See State v. Keyser, No. 0310021647, 2005 WL 1331778, at *4, *14 (Del. Super. Ct. June 3, 2005).
- 39. Steven Church, Capano's Fate Is Now in Judge Lee's Hands, NEWS J. (Wilmington), Jan. 29, 1999, at 8A.
- 40. Baker v. State, 637 A.2d 825, 1993 WL 557951, at *1 (Del. Dec. 30, 1993); see Lawrie v. State, 643 A.2d 1336, 1346 (Del. 1994).
- 41. Lawrie, 643 A.2d at 1346; Dickerson v. State, No. 353, 1992, 1993 WL 541913, at *4 (Del. Dec. 21, 1993).
- 42. State v. Hankins, No. 0603026103, 2008 WL 4899238, at *2, *9 (Del. Super. Ct. Oct. 30, 2008), aff'd, 976 A.2d 839 (Del. 2009).
 - 43. State v. Rodriguez, 656 A.2d 262, 268, 281 (Del. Super. Ct. 1993).
- 44. Barrow v. State, 749 A.2d 1230, 1237 (Del. 2000). Barnett and Barrow, co-defendants, were originally sentenced to death after a jury recommendation of death, but the sentence was vacated and the case was returned to trial court for resentencing. *Id.* at 1234. After the parties agreed to waive a jury recommendation at the new penalty hearing, the trial court re-sentenced Barrow and Barnett to life imprisonment. State v. Barrow, 2002 WL 88934, at *3 (Del. Super. Ct. Jan. 4, 2002).
- 45. Barrow, 749 A.2d at 1237. Barrow was originally sentenced to death, but this sentence was vacated and the case was returned to trial court for resentencing. *Id.* 1234. At resentencing, without a new jury recommendation, Barrow was sentenced to life. Barrow, 2002 WL 88934, at *3.
- 46. Weeks v. State, 761 A.2d 804, 805 & n.1 (Del. 2000); All information on Delaware overrides was obtained from Kevin O'Donnell and Bernard O'Donnell, Office of the Public Defender, State of Delaware (as acknowledged in note *).
 - 47. Page v. State, 934 A.2d 891, 895 (Del. 2007).

13. Luis Cabrera49	7	1999
14. Donald Cole ⁵⁰	7	2004
15. Freddy Flonnory ⁵¹	7	2004
16. David Jones ⁵²	7	2000
17. Clifford Wright ⁵³	7	2010

In July 2002, the Delaware legislature tightened the rules that allow overrides in capital cases in order to comply with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Ring v. Arizona.*⁵⁴ In 2003, the Delaware Supreme Court held "that the trial judge must give 'great weight' to a jury's recommendation of life imprisonment," and vacated the death override of the jury's life recommendation in *Garden.*⁵⁵ In reaction to that decision, the Delaware legislature shortly thereafter revised Delaware's statute to provide that the jury's recommendation shall only be "given such consideration as deemed appropriate...."

Unlike in capital trials in Alabama and Florida, the 2002 Delaware statute does not ask the jurors to vote directly on the question of whether the defendant should be sentenced to death or life imprisonment. Instead, they are asked:

- 1. Whether the evidence shows beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of at least 1 aggravating circumstance
- 2. Whether, by a preponderance of the evidence, . . . the aggravating circumstances . . . outweigh the mitigating circumstances . . . 57
- 48. State v. Watson, 1993 WL 603341, at *7 (Del. Super. Ct. Jan. 22, 1993).
- State v. Cabrera, No. 9703012700, 1999 WL 41630, at *6 (Del. Super. Ct. Jan. 21, 1999). Cabrera remains on death row for two other murders. State v. Cabrera, 2002 WL 484641, *20 (Del. Super. Ct. Mar. 14, 2002).
- 50. Esteban Parra, Two Get Life Terms for Killing Couple, News J. (Wilmington Del.), Sept. 3, 2004, at B3.
- 51. State v. Flonnory, 2004 WL 1658496, *1, *4 (Del. Super. Ct. July 22, 2004); Esteban Parra, Killer of Two in '97 Gets Life in Prison, News J. (Wilmington, Del.), July 23, 2004, at B1.
- 52. Jones v. State, 798 A.2d 1013, 1015-16 (Del. 2002); from Delaware Public Defender.
- 53. State v. Wright, No. 0801010328, 2010 WL 746240, at *9-10 (Del. Super. Ct. Mar. 5, 2010); from Delaware Public Defender.
- 54. 536 U.S. 584 (2002); 73 Del. Laws 1113-15 (2002); Del. Code Ann. tit. 11, § 4209(d)(1) (West 2011) ("A sentence of death shall not be imposed unless the jury, if a jury is impaneled, first finds unanimously and beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of at least 1 statutory aggravating circumstance as enumerated in subsection (e) of this section.").
- 55. Johnson et al., supra note 29, at 6 (footnotes omitted); see also Garden v. State, 815 A.2d 327, 342-43 (Del. 2003).
 - 56. 74 Del. Laws 425 (2003).
- 57. DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 11, § 4209(c)(3) (West 2011); see also Tran, supra note 18, at 870-72.

The jury must be unanimous on the first question; if the jury does not unanimously find at least one aggravator, the defendant is sentenced to life imprisonment. However, they need not be unanimous in the weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Thus, under current law, it is possible that the majority of the jurors could find that the aggravation (including the one aggravating circumstance that they all agree is present) does not outweigh the mitigation, but the judge, after he or she independently reweighs aggravation and mitigation, finds that the aggravation is stronger and therefore imposes death. This is precisely what happened in the Garden case. The jury acts in an advisory capacity solely in its determination of the relative weights of aggravation and mitigation, and their response to the question of whether the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances is the Delaware equivalent of asking the jury whether it recommends a life or a death sentence.

As of February 5, 2012, Delaware had sixteen people on its death row,⁵⁸ and fifteen others had been executed under its current death penalty statute.⁵⁹ None of these thirty-one defendants received jury recommendations of life from their trial juries.⁶⁰ Like in Indiana, to the degree that provisions allowing judges to reject jury recommendations of life are meant to increase the number of executions, the override in Delaware has not succeeded.

C. Alabama

The current Alabama death penalty statute was adopted in 1981.⁶¹ Juries can recommend life sentences with a majority of votes (seven), but need at least ten votes to recommend death.⁶² Unlike the three other states that in the past four decades have allowed a judge to override a jury recommendation of life, Alabama judges have no standards to use to determine when such overrides are appropriate.⁶³ In *Harris v. Alabama*,⁶⁴ the U.S. Supreme

^{58.} Dep't of Corr., *Inmates Sentenced to Death*, ST. DEL., http://www.doc.delaware.gov/information/deathrow.shtml (last visited Feb. 5, 2012). As of 2008, there had been fifty-two post-*Furman* death sentences imposed in Delaware. *See* Johnson et al., *supra* note 29, at 6

^{59.} Searchable Execution Database, supra note 25 (select "DE" in the state field, and press "Search by Details").

^{60.} This statement results from the data presented in this paper where I identify the overrides. See supra notes 37-53 and accompanying text.

^{61.} ALA. CODE §§ 13A-5-39 to -59 (2012); Russell, supra note 23, at 24.

^{62.} ALA. CODE § 13A-5-46(f) (2012); Tran, supra note 18, at 868.

^{63.} Russell, supra note 23, at 27.

^{64. 513} U.S. 504, 512 (1995).

Court approved this standardless override procedure. The statute has attracted regular analysis and criticism.⁶⁵

The procedure I use to count override cases requires some explanation. I count one trial, regardless of the number of victims or the number of separate jury votes on sentence, as one case. If an original death sentence is vacated and it returns to the trial court for a new sentence, I count that as a new case, and include it on the override list if appropriate. If a defendant has two separate trials for two or more murders, I count the separate trials as multiple cases.⁶⁶

Since 1981, ninety-three defendants have been sentenced to death in Alabama after the jurors at their trials recommended life imprisonment.⁶⁷ Their name, county of offense, and date of sentencing are listed in Appendix A. Of the ninety-three, forty-three remain among the 200 inmates on Alabama's death row.⁶⁸ In other words, 21.5% of those currently on death row in Alabama had jury recommendations of life imprisonment. On average about three inmates per year are sentenced to death in Alabama after their trial juries recommended life sentences. This rate has been relatively consistent; there is no indication that the number of overrides is increasing or decreasing.

As of September 24, 2011, Alabama had hosted fifty-five post-Furman executions.⁶⁹ Eight of the fifty-five executed (14.5%) (or eight of

^{65.} See, e.g., Scott E. Ehrlich, The Jury Override: A Blend of Politics and Death, 45 Am. U. L. Rev. 1403 (1996); Nathan A. Forrester, Judge Versus Jury: The Continuing Validity of Alabama's Capital Sentencing Regime After Ring v. Arizona, 54 Ala. L. Rev. 1157 (2003); Criminal Procedure – Sixth Amendment – Alabama Supreme Court Upholds a Death Sentence Imposed by Judicial Override of a Jury Recommendation for Life Imprisonment Without Parole – Ex parte Hodges, 856 So. 2d 936 (Ala. 2003), 117 Harv. L. Rev. 1283 (2004). Clayton Tartt, Administration of Justice of the Preservation of Political Office: The Unconstitutionality of Judicial Override in Alabama Death Penalty Cases, 1 Faulkner L. Rev. 151 (2009).

^{66.} Cf. infra note 107.

^{67.} In ninety-three cases, seven or more jurors voted for life. See infra Appendix A. The four remaining cases received fewer than the unanimous vote for death that was required under the 1975 Alabama death penalty statute to constitute a death recommendation. ALA. CODE § 13-11-1 to 13-11-9 (1975). Arthur Jones (Appendix A, Case No. 1) and Arthur Giles (Appendix A, Case No. 35) were sentenced to death after one juror voted for life. At his 1986 trial, Richard Frazier's jury recommended a sentence of life without parole, Ex parte Frazier, 562 So. 2d 560, 561 (Ala. 1989), although the records from the Equal Justice Initiative indicate that only two trial jurors voted for life. Despite the non-unanimous recommendation, he was sentenced to death and resentenced to death in 1990 (Appendix A, Case No. 17).

^{68.} Alabama Inmates Currently on Death Row, ALA. DEP'T CORRECTIONS, http://www.doc.state.al.us/deathrow.asp (last updated Mar. 8, 2012) (number of inmates remaining on Alabama's death row as of Sept. 24, 2011).

^{69.} Inmates Executed in Alabama, ALA. DEP'T CORRECTIONS, http://www.doc.state.al.us/execution.asp (last visited Aug. 12, 2011).

the ninety-three overrides, or 8.6%) had jury recommendations of life imprisonment. They are:

Defendant's Name	Direct Appeal	<u>Vote</u>	Exec. Date
 Lindsey, Michael 	456 So. 2d 383 (1983)	11-1	05.26.89
2. Hays, Henry	518 So. 2d 749 (1985)	7-5	06.06.97
3. Thompson, Steven Allen	542 So. 2d 1286 (1988)	10-2	05.08.98
4. Johnson, Anthony Keith	521 So. 2d 1006 (1986)	9-3	12.12.02
5. McNair, Willie	706 So. 2d 828 (1997)	8-4	05.14.09
6. Parker, John Forrest	587 So. 2d 1072 (1991)	10-2	06.10.10
7. White, Leroy	587 So.2d 1218 (1990)	9-3	01.11.11
8. Boyd, William Glenn	746 So.2d 364 (1990)	7-5	$03.31.11^{70}$

On the other hand, there have been nine defendants in Alabama who were sentenced to life imprisonment without parole after their juries recommended death:

Defendant's Name	<u>County</u>	Date of Sentence
1. Neal, Eddie Barnard	Jefferson	1978
2. Johnson, Kenneth Earl	Talladega	1984
3. Kinder, Richard David	Jefferson	09.21.84
4. Turner, Cleveland (Jr.)	Talladega	01.06.86
5. Bogan, Claude E.	Montgomery	02.14.86
6. Green, Lionel	Shelby	12.19.88
7. Williams, Willie (Jr.)	Houston	03.22.96
8. Birdsong, Gabrien Dona	Limestone	09.07.01
9. Grace, Ray	Houston	$11.07.06^{71}$

The ability of Alabama judges to reject the trial jury's sentencing recommendations in capital cases was the subject of a July 2011 report by the Equal Justice Initiative. They point out, as did Tartt in an earlier analysis, that Alabama is the only one of the three states that permit the judicial override to elect its judges in partisan elections. Judges face the electorate in Alabama every six years. This creates an incentive for judges who are mindful of public opinion polls and who want to appear "tough on crime" to

^{70.} Data provided by Aaryn Urell, Equal Justice Initiative, Montgomery, Alabama.

^{71.} EQUAL JUST. INITIATIVE, THE DEATH PENALTY IN ALABAMA: JUDGE OVERRIDE 26 (2011), available at http://eji.org/eji/files/Override_Report.pdf; E-mail from Aaryn Urell, Senior Attorney, Equal Justice Initiative, to Michael L. Radelet, Professor of Sociology, University of Colorado-Boulder (Apr. 2, 2011, 14:02 EST) (on file with author).

^{72.} EQUAL JUST. INITIATIVE, supra note 71.

^{73.} Tartt, supra note 65, at 156-61.

^{74.} ALA. CODE § 17-2-7 (LexisNexis 2005).

override life recommendations and increase the number of defendants who are sentenced to death. In fact, it appears that overrides of life recommendations in Alabama are more frequent in election years.⁷⁵

II. THE OVERRIDE IN FLORIDA

The idea that judges could treat the sentencing votes of juries in capital cases as a non-binding recommendation originated in Florida. However, unlike in Alabama, the ability of Florida judges to reject jury recommendations of life is tightly bridled. Some thirty-six years ago, the Florida Supreme Court outlined what has come to be known as "The *Tedder* Standard," which holds that "[i]n order to sustain a sentence of death following a jury recommendation of life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ." Similar standards were later adopted in Indiana and Delaware, but not in Alabama. Over the years, the Florida Supreme Court has made it clear that it will strictly adhere to the *Tedder* standard, resulting in life sentences for the vast majority of defendants sentenced to death after a judicial override.

Alabama legislators have steadfastly resisted putting any constraints on the ability of trial judges to reject jury recommendations of life, and Alabama capital defense attorneys have been equally insistent that such standards should be required. Thus far this battle has been won by those who advocate no constraints on the ability of judges to reject life recommendations. In the 1995 case of *Harris v. Alabama*, the Supreme Court ruled that standards such as *Tedder* that are intended to limit the discretion of trial judges in overriding life recommendations are unnecessary.⁸⁰

^{75.} Tartt, supra note 65, at 160-61; EQUAL JUST. INITIATIVE, supra note 71, at 14-16.

^{76.} For a discussion of how this legislation was born, see Radelet & Mello, *supra* note 15, at 197-200. In 2011, the Florida Supreme Court wrote that "[i]t takes more than a difference of opinion as to the validity and weight of the evidence presented in aggravation and mitigation to justify a jury override. . . . The trial court must . . . consider whether the mitigation evidence could serve as a reasonable basis for a life recommendation." Coleman v. State, 64 So. 3d 1210, 1225 (Fla. 2011) (citations omitted).

^{77.} Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1975). For a discussion of *Tedder*, see Radelet & Mello, *supra* note 15, at 200-04.

^{78.} Martinez Chavez v. State, 534 N.E.2d 731, 735 (1989); see supra note 19 and accompanying text.

^{79.} Garden v. State, 815 A.2d 327 (2003); see supra notes 32-36 and accompanying text.

^{80.} In *Harris v. Alabama*, the Supreme Court heard a challenge to the Alabama death sentencing scheme because it failed to tell trial judges how much they should weigh jury recommendations of life imprisonment when making the final life-or-death decision. 513 U.S. 504 (1995). The lone dissent came from Justice Stevens, who wrote, "Alabama's capital sentencing statute is unique. In Alabama, unlike any other State in the Union, the trial judge has unbridled discretion to sentence the defendant to death—even though a jury has

In the wake of *Harris*, the Florida legislature attempted to get rid of the *Tedder* parameters and make life-to-death overrides more resilient to the scrutiny of the state supreme court. In 1995, they passed a bill that would have eliminated the *Tedder* standard, making it easier for judges to override life recommendations from juries. However, on June 14, 1995, this legislation was vetoed by Governor Lawton Chiles. *Tedder* remains the standard to this day.

In academic circles, the most thoughtful and persistent critic of statutes that permit trial judges to override jury recommendations of life was Michael Mello. He became interested in the issue when it was presented in the case of Joe Spaziano, who first in 1976 and again in 1981 was sentenced to death in Florida following jury recommendations of life imprisonment. Spaziano's challenge to the ability of judges to reject jury recommendations of life went to the U.S. Supreme Court in 1984, but in a decision written by Justice Harry Blackmun, the Court held that the override provision in Florida did not violate any constitutional standards.⁸²

The following year, Mello and Ruthann Robson outlined several reasons why they believed that the Florida legislature should eliminate the power of judges to reject jury recommendations of life. So They took the view that retribution or community outrage was the sole possible justification of the death penalty. They pointed out that judges are typically older, whiter, and richer than most citizens in the community, and that juries "represent a fair cross section of the community" and therefore reflect community values. This makes jurors more able than judges to reflect community sentiments in the decision to seek death.

Mello and Robson also argued that eliminating the override would increase the efficiency and decrease the costs of the Florida Supreme Court and federal appellate courts because death penalty cases consume many more court resources than cases that end with life sentences. ⁸⁶ Perhaps more importantly, they suggested that life recommendations by jurors in capital cases may reflect lingering doubts about the defendant's guilt. ⁸⁷ Here they pointed to the case of Anibal Jaramillo, who was sentenced to death despite

determined that death is an inappropriate penalty, and even though no basis exists for believing that any other reasonable, properly instructed jury would impose a death sentence." *Id.* at 515 (Stevens, J., dissenting). For discussion and critique, see Tran, *supra* note 18, at 876-87.

^{81.} Lafferty, supra note 8, at 466, 482-87; John M. Richardson, Reforming the Jury Override: Protecting Capital Defendants' Rights by Returning to the System's Original Purpose, 94 J. CRIM. L. & CRIMINOLOGY 455, 465 (2004).

^{82.} Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 449 (1984).

^{83.} Mello & Robson, supra note 11.

^{84.} Id. at 45-46.

^{85.} Id. at 49 (footnote omitted).

^{86.} Id. at 52-55.

^{87.} Id. at 55-60.

two unanimous jury recommendations of life. 88 On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court vacated the convictions and ordered Jaramillo's immediate release because of questions about his guilt. 89

In a second article, ⁹⁰ Mello argued that allowing judges to reject jury recommendations of life violated the Supreme Court's 1985 decision in *Caldwell v. Mississippi*. ⁹¹ Bobby Caldwell was sentenced to death after the prosecutor told jurors that the ultimate responsibility for Caldwell's sentence lay not in their hands, but in the hands of the appellate courts. ⁹² The Supreme Court reversed because this argument not only misstated Mississippi law, but it also misled jurors into underestimating their responsibility in the sentencing decision. ⁹³ Mello argued that these same defects can be found with the override—it allows jurors to know that the ultimate life-or-

^{88.} Id. at 59.

Jaramillo v. State, 417 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1982); see infra Appendix B (Case No. 65). They also discussed the case of Ernest Dobbert, who was executed in 1984 despite a jury vote for life and much evidence that he did not have the requisite intent and premeditation to be found guilty of first-degree murder. See infra Appendix B (Case Nos. 12 & 40). Since Melio and Robson initially raised the issue of lingering doubt, other cases where a jury's vote for life was undoubtedly based on questions about guilt have emerged. In 1986, Anthony Brown (Case No. 89) was acquitted after the Florida Supreme Court threw out his original conviction and ordered a new trial. Brown v. State, 471 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1985). At retrial, he was acquitted. MICHAEL L. RADELET, HUGO ADAM BEDAU & CONSTANCE E. PUTNAM. IN SPITE OF INNOCENCE 289 (1992). In two other cases, the defendants who were sentenced to death after jury recommendations of life were permitted to leave prison after winning new sentencing hearings and pleading guilty to second degree murder (or entering an Alford plea) in exchange for time served. One involved Sonia Jacobs, See infra Appendix B (Case No. 28, Sonia Jacobs); Michael L. Radelet, William S. Lofquist & Hugo Adam Bedau, Prisoners Released from Death Rows Since 1970 Because of Doubts About Their Guilt, 13 T.M. COOLEY L. REV. 907, 941-43 (1996). The second involved Ernest Miller. See also infra Appendix B (Case No. 54, Ernest Miller); Radelet, Lofquist & Bedau, supra, at 943-44. Mello's client, Joe Spaziano, also deserves a place on this list, at least arguably. See, e.g., Tena Jamison Lee, Anatomy of a Death Penalty Case: Did Florida Almost Execute an Innocent Man?, 23 HUM. RTS. 18 (1996). In 1995, Spaziano won a stay of execution from the Florida Supreme Court, Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363 (1995), and in early 1996, District Court Judge O.H. Eaton, Jr. set aside the conviction. MICHAEL MELLO, THE WRONG MAN: A TRUE STORY OF INNOCENCE ON DEATH ROW 433-39 (2001). In November 1998, Spaziano entered a "no contest" plea to second degree murder and was sentenced to time served plus two years. Id. at 497-99. At the time of this writing in 2011, he remains in prison in Florida, serving a life sentence for a 1975 sexual battery conviction. Inmate Population Information Search, FLA. DEPARTMENT CORRECTIONS, http://www.dc.state.fl.us/ActiveInmates/ (search for Joseph Spaziano) (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).

^{90.} Taking Caldwell v. Mississippi Seriously, supra note 12.

^{91. 472} U.S. 320 (1985).

^{92.} Id. at 325-26.

^{93.} Id. at 340-41.

death decision belongs to the judge, not them, and thereby diminishes their responsibility.⁹⁴

The Florida life-to-death override was also examined in a 1985 article by the present author. 95 The criticisms of the override contained in the article focused on its psychological and fiscal costs, 96 the question of the representativeness and competence of the trial jury,97 and the possibility that in some cases, jury votes for life could reflect "whimsical" or lingering doubts about the defendant's guilt.98 The 1985 article presented data that showed that the probability that the conviction would be affirmed on direct appeal by the Florida Supreme Court was two times higher in cases with a death recommendation than in cases with a life recommendation. 99 In addition, the article examined 326 cases in which the death penalty was imposed in Florida from 1972 through September 20, 1984, of which eighty-four had jury recommendations of life (25.77%). 100 Interestingly, the data showed that the ratio of aggravating to mitigating circumstances was lower in the cases where the jury recommended death than in cases where the jury recommended life.101 In the latter, judges tended to find more aggravating and fewer mitigating circumstances than in cases with a death recommendation, indicating that the trial judge's formal findings of aggravating and mitigating circumstances were more "an effort to justify, rather than to direct, the sentencing decision."102

The arguments against the practice of allowing judges to reject jury recommendations of life imprisonment have convinced at least two distinguished commissions to recommend the elimination of life-to-death overrides. The first recommendation came in 1991 from the Florida Supreme Court's Racial and Ethnic Bias Study Commission. The Commission recommended:

The Florida Legislature should amend [§] 921.141(3), Florida Statutes, to prohibit judges from imposing the death penalty in cases where the jury has recommended a sentence of life imprisonment. Judges should stand between a defendant and the

^{94.} Later, Mello argued that the override procedure offends the Florida constitution. This critique, which grew out of work that he began in 1986 in the Spaziano case, was intended as a roadmap for the Florida Supreme Court to prohibit the override on state constitutional grounds. *Taking* Caldwell v. Mississippi *Seriously*, *supra* note 12.

^{95.} Rejecting the Jury, supra note 11.

^{96.} Id. at 1422-24.

^{97.} Id. at 1424-26.

^{98.} Id. at 1427-30.

^{99.} *Id.* at 1423. Even by 1985, it was becoming clear that most death penalty cases with a jury recommendation of life would later be reduced to life imprisonment. "If present trends continue, very few defendants who have been sentenced to death following a jury recommendation of life will ever be executed." *Id.* at 1422.

^{100.} Id. at 1413.

^{101.} Id. at 1414.

^{102.} Id.

hatred and hysteria of an inflamed jury. They should not be subject to public pressure, stemming from those same emotions, to impose the death penalty where the jury has recommended life. If it is to be retained at all, the judicial override provision should be revised to make it operational only to temper an inflamed jury's recommendation of death. ¹⁰³

Later, the American Bar Association's Death Penalty Moratorium Project, in its report on the death penalty in Florida, recommended that "[t]he State of Florida should give the jury final decision-making authority in capital sentencing proceedings, and thus should eliminate judicial override in cases where the jury recommends life imprisonment without the possibility of parole." However, in the chambers of the Florida legislature, these recommendations have done nothing but gather dust.

III. LIFE-TO-DEATH OVERRIDES IN FLORIDA

How many life-to-death override cases have occurred in Florida? Soon after Florida's post-*Furman* death penalty statute took effect in 1972,¹⁰⁵ Jacksonville attorney William Sheppard and his legal assistant, Kay Isaly, began to assemble a data set on all Florida death sentences. In 1979 this data set was turned over to the present Author, who, with the assistance of Florida paralegal Theresa Farley, continues to update and maintain it today. When a new death sentence is handed down, a letter and brief questionnaire is sent to both the inmate and the attorney. The defense attorney is asked to send a copy of the judge's "sentencing order," which lists the judge's findings of aggravating and mitigating circumstances.¹⁰⁶ The death penalty case is then followed until the prisoner leaves death row, either from judicial

^{103.} Fla. Supreme Court Racial & Ethnic Bias Study Comm'n, "Where the Injured Fly for Justice": Reforming Practices Which Impede the Dispensation of Justice to Minorities in Florida 48 (1991), available at http://www.flcourts.org/diversity/(emphasis omitted).

^{104.} See Am. Bar Ass'n., EVALUATING FAIRNESS AND ACCURACY IN STATE DEATH PENALTY SYSTEMS: THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY ASSESSMENT REPORT, at x (2006), available at http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/moratorium/assessmentproject/florida/executivesummary.authcheckdam.pdf.

^{105.} Florida's post-Furman death penalty law went into effect in December 1972. Charles W. Ehrhardt & L. Harold Levinson, Florida's Legislative Response to Furman: An Exercise in Futility?, 64 J. CRIM. L. & CRIMINOLOGY 10, 10 (1973).

^{106.} This data set is not available to the public. In Florida, jurors do not make formal findings of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, but instead only vote for the death penalty or for life imprisonment without parole. Only the trial judge makes written findings of aggravation and mitigation. The absence of formal findings by the jury of aggravation and mitigation led U.S. District Judge Jose E. Martinez to rule in June 2011 that the Florida death penalty statute was unconstitutional and to vacate the death sentence of Paul H. Evans. David Ovalle, Miami Federal Judge Rules Florida's Death Penalty Unconstitutional, MIAMI HERALD, Jun. 22, 2011; Evans v. McNeil, No. 08-14402 (S.D. Fla. June 20, 2011), available at http://apublicdefender.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/evans-mcneil.pdf.

decisions, executive clemency, natural death, suicide, homicide, or execution.

Between 1972 and early June 2011, a total of 166 death sentences were imposed in Florida following a jury recommendation of life imprisonment.¹⁰⁷ But as of this writing in August 2011, the last person sentenced to death in Florida after a jury recommendation of life was Jeffery Weaver, who was sentenced in August 1999.¹⁰⁸ It has been nearly a dozen years since the last life-to-death override in Florida.

The names of the defendants who were sentenced to death after jury recommendations of life, dates of their sentences, citations to the direct appeal decisions by the Florida Supreme Court, and the outcomes of those direct appeal decisions are listed in Appendix B. The data in Appendix B show that only about twenty-six percent $(43 \div 166)$ of the override cases were affirmed on direct appeal. Of those forty-three, thirty-four won relief (so far) after subsequent litigation. Five remain on death row, and four were executed. 112

The number of overrides by year of sentence is listed in Table 3. It can be seen that between 1973 and 1989, an average of between seven and nine people were sentenced to death each year after life recommendations. That average dropped by fifty percent in 1990-94, and by an additional seventy percent from 1995-1999. Thereafter, life-to-death overrides stopped.

^{107.} This includes cases where there were 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, or 12 votes for life. Although Florida's capital statute discusses a recommendation by a "majority" of the jury, FLA. STAT. ANN. § 921.141(3) (West 2011), a split vote of six-to-six is treated as a recommendation of life imprisonment; see also Patten v. State, 467 So. 2d 975, 980 (Fla. 1985); Rose v. State, 425 So. 2d 521, 525 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 461 U.S. 909 (1983). Counting override cases requires some explanation. In 1985, Radelet stated that there had been eighty-seven life-to-death overrides in Florida. Rejecting the Jury, supra note 11, at 1412. In 1992 Radelet and Mello put the number at 134. Radelet & Mello, supra note 15, at 196. The total of 166 cases reported herein is slightly higher because the numbers in this Article are for cases, not individuals. We include eleven cases in which a defendant was sentenced to death after a jury recommendation of life and then resentenced to death after the original death sentence was vacated; eight cases with multiple victims, with the jury recommending both life and death, but the defendant was sentenced to death on all counts; and one such case with mixed sentence recommendations where the defendant was resentenced to death after a remand.

^{108.} See infra Appendix B, Case No. 166.

^{109.} Here I include three cases in the denominator wherein the defendant died before the direct appeal was decided, and one case where the death sentence was vacated by the trial court soon after it was imposed.

^{110.} See infra Appendix B.

^{111.} See infra Appendix B (Case No. 82, Tommy Groover; Case No. 135, William Zeigler; Case No. 136, Timothy Robinson; Case No. 152, Anthony Washington; and Case No. 163, Edward Zakrzewski).

^{112.} See infra Appendix B (Case No. 38, Beauford White; Case No. 40, Ernest Dobbert; Case. No. 58, Bernard Bolander; and Case No. 84, Bobby Francis). It has now been twenty years since the last Florida inmate with a jury recommendation of life (Bobby Francis) was put to death.

Why have life-to-death overrides in Florida ceased? Neither the Florida Supreme Court nor any federal court has halted the practice. Nor has the Florida legislature. It is mysterious that at least one judge, perhaps facing retirement or not worried about retention, has not effectively said, "I do not care what the Florida Supreme Court says; I think this defendant should die."

Undoubtedly there are a number of interrelated factors operating together that have had some effect in reducing overrides, and it is impossible to pinpoint the precise role of each. We can hypothesize that seven factors, listed below in no particular order, may be operating:¹¹³

- 1. <u>Taking Tedder Seriously</u>. Trial judges slowly began to realize that the Florida Supreme Court only rarely upholds a death sentence imposed after an override. Even if a trial judge really thought that a given defendant deserved to be sentenced to death, judges generally do not like to get reversed on appeal.
- 2. <u>Better Judges</u>. Judges today are better trained and educated, and more careful.¹¹⁴ Three of the four judges who imposed the most death sentences after jury recommendations of life are no longer on the bench.¹¹⁵ All Florida judges are required to take the five day Handling Capital Cases course offered yearly by the Florida College of Advanced Judicial Studies before being assigned to preside over a capital case.¹¹⁶
- 3. <u>Little Political Incentive</u>. Because of the publicity about exonerations and lack of fairness, judges do not perceive that they will gain much political mileage by overriding a jury recommendation of life.

^{113.} I am grateful to several of the very best death penalty attorneys in Florida for brainstorming with me about this issue over the years, especially Bill McLain, Bob Norgaard, Mark Olive, Chris Quarles, Todd Scher, and Adam Tebrugge.

^{114.} For example, the author of the most important document given to judges who are attending a training session for conducting death penalty cases, after observing that ninety percent of the override cases are reversed, recommends, "The safe course of action for the trial judge to take after receiving a jury recommendation of life in prison is to determine the credit for time served and impose the sentence recommended by the jury." O.H. EATON, JR., FLA. COLL. OF ADVANCED JUDICIAL STUDIES, CONDUCTING THE PENALTY PHASE OF A CAPITAL CASE 156 (2011), available at http://www.flcourts18.org/PDF/Eaton/2011_AJS_Pen_Phase Mat ed Final.pdf.

^{115.} Two judges overrode six life recommendations: Harry Lee Coe, who committed suicide in 2000, and Nickolas Geeker, who is still on the bench. Two other judges overrode seven life recommendations. The first, Thomas Coker, retired in 1991 and passed away in 1999. The second, Hudson Oliff, is retired.

^{116.} FLA. R. JUD. ADMIN. 2.215(b)(10)(A), available at http://www.floridabar.org/TFB/TFBResources.nsf/Attachments/F854D695BA7136B085257316005E7DE7/\$FILE/Judi cial.pdf.

- 4. <u>Ring</u>.¹¹⁷ By the early 2000's, overrides had already ceased, but the final nail in the coffin may have been *Ring v. Arizona*, in which the Supreme Court elevated the importance of trial juries in determining who would be sentenced to death.
- 5. <u>Better defense attorneys</u>. The defense attorneys are doing a better job presenting mitigation, so judges might see that a jury recommendation of life is well-grounded in solid mitigation.
- 6. Less Support for the Death Penalty. Like the general public, it may be that prosecutors and judges are less supportive of the death penalty today than they were twenty years ago. 118 If so, prosecutors would not be urging judges to override life recommendations as vigorously as they once had been. With 400 inmates already in the queue for execution in Florida, judges may realize that there is little chance that those sentenced to death today will ever be executed, and they may want to spare the taxpayers the huge expense of going through a death penalty appeal that, in all likelihood, will not result in an execution.
- 7. The Alternative of Life Without Parole. Before 1994, the sentence for those convicted of first-degree murder in Florida who were not sentenced to death was life imprisonment, but offenders would be considered for parole after twenty-five years. 119 Today, that possibility for parole has been eliminated. There are only two possible sentences for those convicted of first-degree murder in Florida: death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. 120

^{17.} Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

^{118.} Support for the death penalty has dropped precipitously since the mid-1990s, especially support for the death penalty given the option of life imprisonment without parole. When the Gallup organization last measured this in 2010, they found that forty-nine percent of the American public favored the death penalty, compared to forty-six percent who favored life imprisonment without parole. This is very different than 1997, when supporters of the death penalty outnumbered those favoring prison terms by a sixty-one to twenty-nine margin. Death Penalty, GALLUP, http://www.gallup.com/poll/1606/death-penalty.aspx (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).

^{119.} As the Florida Supreme Court explained:

In 1994, the Legislature enacted chapter 94-228, Laws of Florida, section 1 of which amended the statute on penalties for crimes to make life without the possibility of parole the alternative punishment to a death sentence for the crime of first-degree murder. See § 775.082(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). Section three of the session law states that "[t]his act shall take effect upon becoming a law." The act was approved by the Governor and became effective May 25, 1994. Thus, the amended sentencing statute applies to all crimes committed after May 25, 1994.

Bates v. State, 750 So. 2d 6, 10 (1999).

^{120.} FLA. STAT. ANN. § 775.082 (West 2011).

IV. DEATH-TO-LIFE OVERRIDES IN FLORIDA

In 1992, Radelet and Mello provided information on fifty-one Florida cases involving forty-seven defendants who were sentenced to life imprisonment for homicide convictions after the trial juries recommended that the defendants should be sentenced to death. The cases occurred over an eighteen-year span, 1974-1991. Of the forty-seven, ten with multiple homicide convictions were sentenced to death after their trial juries recommended death on other homicide counts.

As we explained in that article, identifying death-to-life overrides is not a simple task, and it is easy to miss cases. All cases ending with a death sentence are appealed to the Florida Supreme Court, and the state now maintains a website with all death penalty cases. 122 However, defendants sentenced to life may not appeal their convictions, and even if they do there is no way to pick out the death-to-life overrides. Because of this, the task of compiling a list of death-to-life overrides relies heavily on word of mouth, principally among Florida defense attorneys. As was said in 1992, "[W]e cannot and do not claim completeness." 123

Since the publication of that paper, at the very least an additional thirty-six death-to-life overrides have occurred in Florida, and one additional case from before 1991 was discovered.¹²⁴ This brings the total to eighty-

^{121.} Radelet & Mello, supra note 15, at 210-11.

^{122.} See Death Row Roster, FLA. DEP'T CORR., http://www.dc.state.fl. us/activeinmates/deathrowroster.asp (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).

^{123.} Radelet & Mello, *supra* note 15, at 210. Indeed, after the publication of our 1992 paper, we found a case from 1976 that we missed. *See infra* Appendix C (case of Donald Armour).

Two other cases, although not included in the tally, could reasonably be considered "quasi" death-to-life overrides. Prosecutors argued that Gary Michael Glisson, Eric Rodriguez, and Jarvis Mosley robbed and murdered seventeen year-old Angelia "Angel" Headrick. Jason Geary, Divided Jury Recommends Death for Killer, THE LEDGER.COM, Sept. 8, 2009, http://www.theledger.com/article/20090908/NEWS/909085045?p=1&tc=pg. In separate trials, Glisson and Rodriguez were convicted of first-degree murder; Mosley agreed to plead guilty to lesser charges related to the murder and to testify against his two partners, in exchange for a fifteen year sentence. Id. Rodriguez's jury recommended death by a sevento-five vote, while Glisson received an eight-to-four vote for death. Id.; Jason Geary, Jury Recommends Death for Gary Michael Glisson, THE LEDGER.COM, Feb. 5, 2010, http://www.theledger.com/article/20100205/NEWS/2055043?Title=Jury-Recommends-Death-for-Gary-Michael-Glisson. Shortly thereafter and before sentencing, Glisson's attorneys, Bob and Andrea Norgaard, filed a motion for a new trial. Jason Geary, Two Get Life in Prison Without Parole for Killing of 'Angel' Headrick, THE LEDGER.COM, Mar. 11, 2010, http://www.theledger.com/article/20100311/NEWS/3115026. Prosecutors worried that the a new trial would be granted and agreed to waive the death penalty in exchange for the withdrawal of the motion for the new trial. Id. Glisson agreed. Id. In addition, because Glisson was the major participant in the murder, prosecutors also decided to waive the death penalty for Rodriguez. Id. Both Glisson and Rodriguez were sentenced to life imprisonment, Id.

eight cases. There were fifty-two cases in the earlier eighteen-year span (an average of 2.9 per year) and thirty-six cases in the twenty-year period beginning in January 1992 to mid-2011 (an average of 1.8 per year). The number of death-to-life overrides by years is displayed in Table 4. Overall, the number of death-to-life cases over the thirty-seven year period is roughly consistent at about two per year, with the notable exception of 1987-89, when the State averaged 8.7 cases per year.

Table 5 shows that among the thirty-six new cases where the jury's vote is known, about two thirds (twenty-four) had death recommendations of either seven-to-five or eight-to-four. But there were also two cases in which the trial judge overrode unanimous jury recommendations for death. In 2004, Brandon Gatlin (Case No. 11) was sentenced to life, despite a prior robbery conviction and a brutal beating that he and another inmate administered to a fellow prisoner while they awaited trial in the county jail. 125 In that case, the trial judge was strongly influenced by questions of intent and the unusually chaotic circumstances of Mr. Gatlin's childhood. 126 In the second case in which the trial judge rejected a twelve-to-zero vote for death, the trial judge reduced the value of the jury's vote because it was delivered so quickly that there was not enough time for proper deliberation (Case No. 18).127 Table 5 also shows that there are ten cases where nine or ten members of the jury voted for death, showing that even strong jury recommendations for death can be overridden. Of course, in almost all death penalty jurisdictions, a unanimous jury recommendation is required before a defendant can be sentenced to death, 128 so these overrides can be seen as actions that bring Florida closer to what the other states are doing.

Why do judges override death recommendations? Table 6 presents fourteen reasons. Most of these justifications are fairly common types of mitigation known to jurors; only two reasons (jury error and the wishes of the family of the victim) are factors presumably not known to members of the jury. By far the most common reason for judicial overrides of death recommendations is the defendant's mental illness or mental retardation. In-

Thus, it was not the judge who took the initiative to override the death recommendations, although the judge had to approve the negotiated deal.

^{125.} Jason Geary, Convict Escapes Death: Judge Rejects Jury's Choice and Sends Murderer to Prison for Life, LAKELAND LEDGER, Dec. 18, 2004; see infra Appendix C, Case No. 11.

^{126.} Geary, supra note 125; see infra Appendix C, Case No. 11.

^{127.} See infra Appendix C, Case No. 18 (Ronald Knight); David Holmberg, Judge: Decision on Death Rushed, PALM BEACH POST, Dec. 9, 1995, at A1; Stephanie Smith, Judge Gives Killer Two Life Terms; Jury's 12-0 Death Recommendation Rejected, Sun Sentinel (Fort Lauderdale), Dec. 9, 1995, at 1A.

^{128. &}quot;The bottom line is that Florida is now the *only* state in the country that allows the death penalty to be imposed even though the penalty-phase jury may determine by a mere majority vote *both* whether aggravators exist and whether to recommend the death penalty." State v. Steele, 921 So. 2d 538, 550 (Fla. 2005).

deed, jurors might inappropriately misinterpret mental health mitigation as non-statutory *aggravation*: they may believe that a mentally ill or mentally retarded inmate may constitute a danger in the prison community. ¹²⁹ Judges, however, may be in a position to reject such emotional arguments. Table 6 also shows that concerns about jury error prompted the life sentences in five cases. Together with a broader concern about the improper evaluation of mitigation or the improper weighing of aggravation and mitigation, it is likely that in most cases, had the defendant been sentenced to death, the sentence would have been vacated on appeal. As was suggested in the 1992 article, the death-to-life overrides clearly save the scarce resources of the Florida Supreme Court by reducing the number of death penalty cases they are mandated to review.

Table 7 combines the information presented in the 1992 article¹³⁰ with the new cases presented in Appendix C. It lists all eighty-eight death-to-life cases in summary form and chronological order. Names of the judges who rejected the death recommendations are also presented.

Are there a small handful of judges who are responsible for a large fraction of the death-to-life overrides? The data presented in Table 8, which also combines the data from all eighty-eight cases, indicates that the answer is no. Only two judges¹³¹ (John Antoon and J. Rogers Padgett) have overridden jury recommendations in three separate trials.¹³²

There is no evidence in the materials on any of the cases of any backlash against these judges for their decisions to override the death recommendations. In fact, after the overrides Judge Antoon enjoyed a successful tenure as a judge of Florida's Fifth District Court of Appeals, and since 2000 he has been a U.S. District Court judge.¹³³ In 2008, Judge Padgett retired, not because of any controversy, but because he reached the mandatory retirement age of seventy.¹³⁴ In the earlier set of cases, two of the overrides resulted in protests, but these protests were short-lived.¹³⁵ With public opin-

^{129.} See Lawrence T. White, The Mental Illness Defense in the Capital Penalty Hearing, 5 BEHAV, Sci. & L. 411 (1987).

^{130.} Radelet & Mello, supra note 15, at 216-28.

^{131.} One other judge, Ralph Person, sentenced five people to life after their juries recommended death, but four were in one trial and one was in a second trial.

^{132.} This is a paltry number compared to the two judges who overrode six life recommendations, and two others who overrode seven life recommendations. *See supra* note 115.

^{133.} Biographical Directory of Federal Judges: Antoon, John II, FED. JUD. CENTER, http://www.fjc.gov/servlet/nGetInfo?jid=2857&cid=999&ctype=na&instate=na (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).

^{134.} Colleen Jenkins, *Mandatory Retirement is Forcing out Florida Judges*, St. PETERSBURG TIMES, Sept. 22, 2008, http://www.tampabay.com/news/courts/article 821308.ece.

^{135.} Radelet & Mello, supra note 15, at 213 (cases of Ramirez and Taylor).

ion steadily moving away from the death penalty, 136 even less criticism and more support can be expected for future death-to-life overrides.

CONCLUSION

As any novice student of the death penalty quickly learns, it is impossible to predict the future for America's executioners. In 1984 there were eight executions in Florida and (as of December 31) 215 prisoners on its death row.¹³⁷ Many individuals working with death row inmates at the time, the present Author included, thought that monthly executions (at least) would soon become the norm. Yet, between then and August 1, 2011 (319 months) "only" fifty-nine more inmates have been put to death, an average of less than one execution every five months. Nine of those were executed only after dropping their appeals. In the hundreds of lonely fights over the death penalty in the past thirty years in Florida, the victories by defense attorneys have far, far outpaced the victories by prosecutors.

It is therefore a bit risky, in all probability, to declare that the last of life-to-death overrides has already occurred. This is especially true since the lack of overrides since 1999 has not been a function of any (direct) judicial or legislative actions. To be sure, the appellate courts have not been friendly toward overrides, but thus far they have resisted prohibiting them altogether. Today there is nothing that can stop a trial judge, perhaps nearing retirement or confident that the voters will not care, from overriding a jury's life recommendation—for pure spite if nothing else. We can hold a requiem, but the stake has not yet been driven through Dracula's heart.

With 166 overrides, five of which are "pending" because they involve men still on death row, ¹³⁸ and four executions taking the lives of defendants whose juries thought that they did not deserve death, ¹³⁹ prosecutors in override cases have had a dismal rate of success. Any factory that produced nine "successes" (at best) out of 166 tries (5.4%) would not stay in business for long. To be sure, some may argue that there is some benefit to sentencing people to death even if they are not executed, much like simulated executions in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries when the person was brought to the gallows for the ritual of execution, while all present knew

^{136.} See, e.g., Death Penalty, supra note 118; RICHARD C. DIETER, DEATH PENALTY INFO. CTR., A CRISIS OF CONFIDENCE: AMERICANS' DOUBTS ABOUT THE DEATH PENALTY I (2007), available at http://www.deathpenaltyinfo.org/CoC.pdf.

^{137.} BUREAU OF JUSTICE STATISTICS, U.S DEP'T OF JUSTICE, NCJ-99562, CAPITAL PUNISHMENT 1984, at 6 tbl.6 (1986), *available at* https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ Digitization/99562NCJRS.pdf.

^{138.} See supra note 107.

^{139.} See supra note 112 and accompanying text.

that the execution would not be carried out.¹⁴⁰ But with ninety-five percent of the death sentences obtained by overrides vacated on appeal,¹⁴¹ it is beyond dispute that Florida taxpayers have wasted literally hundreds of millions of dollars on these cases.¹⁴²

On the other hand, Florida judges in eighty-eight cases have saved the taxpayers millions more by rejecting death recommendations from juries in highly mitigated cases and instead sentencing defendants to prison terms. These death-to-life overrides continue, so any requiem for overrides is in reality only half a requiem. In cases where juries return death recommendations, judges need to know that they are fully able to allow the defendant to live, and those who have done so in the past have not suffered a scintilla of political backlash.

That said, the real story of the research reported herein may be in Alabama. The portraits we have painted of the life-to-death override in Delaware, Indiana, and Florida are all very similar: in the past dozen years the only life-to-death override in those three states involved Sadiki Garden in Delaware. ¹⁴³ Indiana has abandoned the override, and in Delaware and Florida the override has become a one-way street in favor of life. Even looking back beyond a decade in those three states, when life-to-death overrides occurred, the death sentences were almost always overturned on appeal. Only nine overrides in the three states "survive" to this day—the five cases of current death row inmates in Florida that have not reached final disposition, and the four others from Florida that ended with executions.

But Alabama is a different beast. It is an outlier. In contrast to every other death penalty state, it not only regularly allows life-to-death overrides, but does so without standards, without appellate courts that regularly reduce such death sentences to life imprisonment, without governors extending executive elemency, and with a continuing practice of sending those with life recommendations to its death chamber. The way that Alabama treats capital cases with life recommendations is utterly unique; it is different in both form and practice from all other death penalty states.

Looked at in this light, the Alabama statute seems ripe for a Supreme Court challenge. In the past decade the Supreme Court looked at trends

^{140.} STUART BANNER, THE DEATH PENALTY: AN AMERICAN HISTORY 53-54, 62-70 (2002).

^{141.} This excludes the four cases in which the death sentence was vacated by the trial court or the defendant died before the direct appeal was decided. The resulting calculation is 154 override cases in which the death penalty was removed out of 162 cases that went through a direct appeal (154 + 162 = 95.1%).

^{142.} For a review of studies on the cost of the death penalty, see *Costs of the Death Penalty*, DEATH PENALTY INFO. CTR., http://www.deathpenaltyinfo.org/costs-death-penalty (last visited Sept. 25, 2011).

See Garden v. State, 815 A.2d 327 (2003); see supra note 32 and accompanying text.

away from the death penalty for the mentally retarded¹⁴⁴ and trends away from the death penalty for juveniles¹⁴⁵ to enact wholesale bans on the practices. Perhaps the uniqueness of the Alabama law and the increasing dissimilarity of its override cases to other death penalty cases will soon lead the Supreme Court to find that such overrides clearly violate evolving standards of decency and guarantee the power of the jurors to firmly reject the death penalty.

Stay tuned.

^{144.} See Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002).

^{145.} See Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

Table 1
Cases in which the Death Penalty was Imposed in Indiana, 1981-1994, after the Trial Jury Recommended a Life Sentence (n=10)¹⁴⁶

Def.'s Name	Date of Sent.	Dec. Vacating Death Sent.
1. Schiro, Thomas	10.02.81	669 N.E.2d 1357 (Ind. 1996)
2. Thompson, Jay R.	03.18.82 492	N.E.2d 264 (Ind. 1986)
3. Martinez Chavez, Eladio	05.15.81 534	N.E.2d 731 (Ind. 1989)
4. Minnick, William A.	10.16.85 2005	U.S. Dist LEXIS 14456
5. Kennedy, Stuart #1	03.21.88 578	N.E.2d 633 (Ind. 1991)
6. Jackson, Donald Lee	06.07.88 597	N.E.2d 950 (Ind. 1992)
7. Kennedy, Stuart #2	04.28.92 620	N.E.2d 17 (Ind. 1993)
8. Ben-Yisrayl, Obadyah	06.05.92 2006	U.S. Dist. LEXIS 32722
(f/k/a Christopher Peterso	n)	
9. Roark, Dennis R.	10.30.92 644	N.E.2d 565 (Ind. 1994)
10. Saylor, Benny L.	02.17.94 808	N.E.2d 646 (Ind. 2004)

Table 2
Death-to-Life Overrides in Indiana, 1984-Present (n=9)

]	Defendant's Name	Date of Override	Sentence County
1.	Danks, Larry	12.10.84	Laporte
2.	Jackson, Patrick	05.02.85	Lake
3.	Mitchell, Paul	12.10.86	Hamilton
4.	Harden, Mark	11.19.87	Marion
5.	Anderson, Timothy D.	11.07.91	Vanderburg
6.	Helfenbein, Theodore	05.26.92	Clark
7.	Bellmore, Larry	11.29.93	Morgan
8.	Rogers, Thomas Lee	04.26.96	Lake
9.	Jones, Roman	12.27.96	Lake

^{146.} I would like to thank Paula Sites, Assistant Executive Director, Indiana Public Defender Council, for providing the data on death-to-life and life-to-death overrides in Indiana.

Table 3
Death Sentences Imposed After Jury Recommendation of Life Imprisonment in Florida, by Year
1973-Current (n=166)

1973---6 1974-10 1975---5 1976-10 1977---3 1978-11 1979—6 1980-12 1981—7 1982-10 1983-12 1984---5 1985-9 1986-10 1987---7 1988—7 1989-10 1990-3 1991---7 1992--3 1993---3 1994--4 1995---2 1996---2 1997---0 1998---1 1999—1 2000-current-0

Annual Averages 1973-74: 8.0 1975-79: 7.0 1980-84: 9.2 1985-89: 8.6 1990-94: 4.0 1995-99: 1.2

2000-10:0

Table 4
Death-to-Life Overrides in Florida by Year (n=91)

1974—2
1975—2
1976—1
1977—1
1978—1
1979—0
1980—4
1981—0
1982—2
1983—0
19842
1985—5
1986—2
1987—12
1988—6
1989—8
1990—3
1991—1
19920
1993—1
1994—3
1995—2
1996—3
1997—2
1998—3
1999—1
2000—0
2001—1
2002—1
2003—3
2004—3
2005—1
2006—3
20070
2008—5
2009—3
2010—0

2011—4

Annual Averages
1974-79: 1.2
1980-84: 1.6
1985-89: 6.6
1990-94: 2.7
1995-99: 2.0
2000-04: 1.6
2005-10: 2.0
2011:4

Table 5 Number of Death Votes in Florida Death-to-Life Cases (n=40)

7 Death Votes	14 cases
8 Death Votes	12 cases
9 Death Votes	6 cases
10 Death Votes	5 cases
11 Death Votes	0 cases
12 Death Votes	2 cases
Unknown	1 case

Table 6 Factors Used to Justify Death-to-Life Overrides in Florida (n=40)

	Case Numbers
Retardation or Mental Illness	1, 3, 10, 12, 13, 15, 22, 23-24, 25,
	26, 27, 29, 31, 32-33, 38, 40
Questions about Premeditation or	6-7, 11, 13, 18, 21, 28, 37, 40
Intent	
Proportionality	5, 8, 13, 17, 18, 20, 25, 30, 35, 36
Abusive Childhood	11, 13, 14, 26, 27, 29, 31, 39
Jury Error	18, 23, 29, 34
Questions about Who Was Triggerman	6-7, 17, 35
Mitigation outweighed aggravation	2, 4, 9, 12, 23-24
Lingering Doubt about Guilt	2, 3, 37
Wishes of Victim's Family	3, 4, 31
Defendant's Remorse, Responsibility,	
Or Cooperation	19, 20, 25, 40
Defendant's Age	6, 16, 23-24, 38
Alcohol	5, 16
Lack of Prior Criminal Record	1, 10, 23-24
Victim Did Not Suffer	14

Table 7
Death-to-Life Overrides, Florida, 1972-2011 (n=91)

<u>Defendant</u>	<u>Date</u>	Trial Location	<u>Trial Judge</u>
1-2.*Zadnick, Rudolph	Nov. 1974	Orlando	Peter de Manio
3-4. *Chandler, Ronald &			
Richard Cravero	July 1975	Miami	Dan Satin
#Armour, David	Mar. 1976	Pasco County	Lawrence E. Keough
*Lusk, Bobby	May 1977	Miami	Wilkie D. Ferguson
*Jackson, James	Apr. 1978	Starke	Wayne Carlisle
8. *Marter, Joseph	Mar. 1980	Orlando	Frank N. Kaney
*Robinson, Lovonza	May 1980	Sebring	John H. Dewell
10. *Cleveland, Edward	Sept. 1980	Pensacola	William Frye III
11.*Graham, Doyle	Sept 1980	Fernandina Beach	Henry Lee Adams, Jr.
12. *Nelson, Michael	Mar. 1982	West Palm Beach	Marvin Mounts
13. *Bullard, James	Oct. 1982	West Palm Beach	Edward Rodgers
14. *Morris, Clarence	May 1984	St. Petersburg	Susan Schaeffer
15. *Hale, Ronald	Oct. 1984	Tampa	John P. Griffin
16. *Crow, Thomas	Apr. 1985	Panama City	N. Russell Bower
17. *Hall, Thomas	July 1985	Tampa	M. William Graybill
18. *Cochran, Guy	Oct. 1985	Tampa	Donald Evans
19.*Garron, Joseph	Oct. 1985	New Port Richey	Lawrence E. Keough
20. *Cook, David	Oct 1985	Miami	Thomas M. Carney
21.*Rivera, Juan	Aug. 1986	Fort Myers	Thomas Reese
22.*Ferguson, Christopher	Dec. 1986	Fort Myers	Thomas Reese
23.*Camper, Carlton	Jan. 1987	Orlando	Gary Formet
24. *Canady, Michael	Mar. 1987	West Palm Beach	William Owen
25. *Ramirez, Jesse	June 1987	Miami	Steven Robinson
26.*Jones, Freddie	May 1987	Miami	Norman Gerstein
27.*White, Victor	July 1987	Sanford	O. H. Eaton, Jr.
28.*Sorey, William	Aug. 1987	Marianna	Robert L. McCrary
29. *Taylor, George	Aug. 1987	Tampa	John P. Griffin
30-33. *Bryant, James	7 x 0 gg, x 5 0 f	x minpa	John I. Gram
Dee Casteel			
Michael Irvine &			
William Rhodes	Sept. 1987	Miami	Ralph N. Person
34. *Occhicone, Dominick	Nov. 1987	New Port Richey	Lawrence E. Keough
35.*Porter, George	Mar. 1988	Melbourne	John Antoon
36.*Mitchell, Joseph	May 1988	Live Oak	John Peach
37. *Lackner, Ronald	Mar. 1988	Inverness	Thomas Sawaya
38.*De Parias, Julita	Sept. 1988	Miami	Ralph Person
39. *Bailey, James	Sept. 1988	Tampa	Richard A. Lazzara
40.*Combs, Robert	Oct. 1988	Fort Myers	Thomas S. Reese
41.*Rippley, Michael	Feb. 1989	Bartow	J. Tim Strickland
42. *Selver, Gilbert	Feb. 1989	West Palm Beach	Harold Cohen
43.*Mays, James, Jr.	Feb. 1989	Melbourne	John Antoon
44-47. *Cruse, William Bryan	July 1989	Bartow ¹⁴⁷	John Antoon John Antoon
48.*Bassett, Ted	Nov. 1989	Daytona Beach	S. James Foxman
49. *Jones, Daniel	Jan, 1990	Bartow	E. Randolph Bentley
50. *Young, Charles "Biff"	July 1990	West Palm Beach	Walter Colbath
51. *Ferguson, Eddie	Nov. 1990	Fort Myers	William Nelson
52. *Telemachos, Katherine	Dec. 1991	Ft. Lauderdale	Charles Green
53. #Silas, Willie	Nov. 1991	Miami	Thomas Carney
54-55. #Chilmonik, Adam	1101. 1273	TATICHTH	ritonias Carney
& David Hubbard	Mar. 1994	Lee County	William Nelson
a David Habbard	Wist. 1777	Loc County	** 111101111-11013011

^{147.} On venue change from Brevard County.

56. #Williams, Walter E.	Aug. 1994	Clearwater	Karl Grube
57. #Jamison, Lewis	Oct. 1995	Bartow	J. Tim Strickland
58. #Knight, Ronald	Dec. 1995	W. Palm Beach	Edward Rodgers
59-60. #Saum, Dustin 148	Sept. 1996	Bartow	Robert Young
61. #Terranova, Joseph	Nov. 1996	Tampa	J. Rogers Padgett
62. #Rogers, Alvin	Feb. 1997	Clearwater	Brandt Downey
63 #Davis, Darrell	June 1997	Jacksonville	Henry Davis
64, #Durain, Daniel G.	Mar. 1998	Ft. Myers	Isaac Anderson
65. #Walker, James	Aug. 1998	Miami	Michael Salmon
66. #Galloway, David	Nov. 1998	Largo	David Seth Walker
67. #Steverson, Bobby Lamar	Sept. 1999	Lakeland	Dennis Maloney
68. #Morris, Walter	Feb. 2001	Pinellas	Robert Beach
69. #Harris, Alfred B.	May 2002	Tampa	J. Rogers Padgett
70. #Green, Troy	Mar. 2003	Tampa	J. Rogers Padgett
71. #Carpenter, David	June 2003	Largo	Dee Anna Farnell
72. #Robinson, Kevin	Sept. 2003	Orlando	A. Thomas Mihok
73. #Johnson, Lloyd	June 2004	West Palm Beach	Stephen Rapp
74. #Barnes, Corrie	July 2004	Shalimar	Thomas Remington
75. #Gatlin, Brandan	Dec. 2004	Polk County	Dennis Maloney
76. #Roca-Moreno, Alfredo	May 2005	Titusville	Warren Burk
77. #Bennett, Christopher	May 2006	Key West	Trish Docherty
78. #Tucker, Jason	Aug. 2006	Viera	Lisa Davidson
79. #Barber, Justin	Sept. 2006	St. Augustine	Edward Hedstrom
80. #Lewis, James Darnel 1	May 2008	Titusville	Lisa Davidson
81. #Smith, Lawrence Joey	Apr. 2008	Dade City	Lynn Tepper
82. #Murphy, Gregory	July 2008	Daytona Beach	J. David Walsh
83. #Saintil, Wilson	Aug. 2008	Pinellas County	Nancy Moate Ley
84. #Permenter, Timothy	Oct. 2008	Pinellas County	R. Timothy Peters
85. #Norman, Rhonda	July 2009	West Palm Beach	Sandra McSorley
86. #Grodin, Justin	Sept. 2009	Ft, Myers	Edward Volz, Jr.
87. #Heyne, Justin	Dec. 2009	Titusville	O.H. Eaton, Jr.
88. #McBride, Kenneth	Feb. 2011	Green Cove Springs	John Skinner
89. #Rolle, Brandon	June 2011	Miami	J. Dennis Murphy
90-91. # Myers, David ¹⁴⁹	June 2011	Sarasota	Charles Roberts

^{*} See Radelet & Mello, supra note 15, at 216-28. # See App. C, infra.

Table 8 Florida Judges Who Have Overridden Death Recommendations In More Than One Trial

John Antoon	William Cruse*
	James Mays*
	George Porter*
Thomas Carney	Willie Silas, infra.
	David Cook*
Lisa Davidson	James Lewis, infra.
	Jason Tucker, infra.
O.H. Eaton, Jr.	Justin Heyne, infra.

^{148.} Judge overrode two death recommendations.

^{149.} Judge overrode two death recommendations.

Victor White*

John Griffin

Ronald Hale

George Taylor

Lawrence E. Keough

David Armour Joseph Garron

Dennis Maloney

Brandan Gatlin, *infra*. Bobby Steverson, *infra*.

William Nelson

Adam Chilmonik and David Hubbard, infra.

Eddie Ferguson*

J. Rogers Padgett

Troy Green, *infra.*Alfred Harris, *infra.*Joseph Terranova, *infra.*

Ralph Person

James Bryant, Dee Casteel, Michael Irvine, and

William Rhodes*

Julita de Parias*

Edward Rodgers

James Ballard Ronald Knight

Thomas Reese

Christopher Ferguson*

Juan Rivera*

J. Timothy Strickland

Lewis Jamison, infra.

Michael Rippley*

^{*} For case information, see Radelet & Mello, supra note 15, at 216-28.

APPENDIX A

CASES IN WHICH THE DEATH PENALTY WAS IMPOSED IN ALABAMA, 1981-2011, AFTER THE TRIAL JURY RECOMMENDED A LIFE SENTENCE (n=93)

Defendant's	County	Date of	Jury Vote	Current
Name		Sentence	LWOP-Death	Status ¹
1. Jones, Arthur	Mobile	02.19.82	life	
2. Murry, Paul	Montgomery	06.18.82	11-1	
		06.29.88	12-0	
		08.17.89	??	
Lindsey, Michael	Mobile	09.08.82	11-1	Executed 5.26.89
4. Harrell, Ed	Jefferson	04.15.83	11-1	
Neelley, Judy	De Kalb	04.18.83	10-2	Clemency
Acres, Gregory	Montgomery	06.02.83	7-5	
7. Crowe, Coy	Jefferson	01.06.84	12-0	
8. Turner, Calvin	Etowah	01.06.84	9-3	
9. Hays, Henry	Mobile	02.02.84	7-5	Executed 06.06.97
10. Freeman, Darryl	Madison	09.06.84	12-0	
Tarver, Robert	Russell	03.08.85	7-5	
12. Owens, Charles	Russell	04.29.85	9-3	
13. Musgrove, Phillip	Madison	06.04.85	10-2	
14. Thompson, Steven	Madison	08.16.85	10-2	Executed 05.08.98
15. Johnson, Anthony	Morgan	11.08.85	9-3	Executed 12.12.02
Hooks, Joseph	Montgomery	02.26.86	7-5	On death row
17. Frazier, Richard	Mobile	07.14.86	life	
18. Boyd, William	Calhoun	04.29.87	7-5	Executed 03.31.11
19. Tarver, Bobby	Mobile	11.30.87	7-5	On death row
20. Duncan, Joe	Dallas	04.12.88	10-2	
McMillian, Walter	Monroe	09.19.88	7-5	Exonerated ²
22. Wesley, Ronald	Mobile	10.26.88	8-4	
23. Hadley, J.C.	Baldwin	02.17.89	12-0	
24. Russaw, Henry ³	Pike	04.28.89	8-4	
25. Jackson, Willie	Coffee	05.09.89	7-5	
26. Stephens, Victor	Hale	07.24.89	7-5	On death row
27. White, Leroy	Madison	09.20.89	9-3	Executed 01.13.11
28. Coral, Robert	Montgomery	10.20.89	8-4	
29. Flowers, Clayton	Baldwin	02.23.90	11-1	
30. Sockwell, Michael	Montgomery	03.05.90	7-5	On death row

^{1.} As of June 8, 2011.

^{2.} The story of Mr. McMillian's exoneration is told in Pete Earley, Circumstantial Evidence: Death, Life, and Justice in a Southern Town (1995).

^{3.} AKA Starks.

826	Michigan Sta	ate Law R	eview	Vol. 2011:793
31. Tomlin, Phillip	Mobile	04.19.90	12-0	
,		01.21.94	12-0	
		07.30.99	12-0 ⁴	
32. Williams, Herbert	Mobile	04.26.90	9-3	
33. Neal, John	Baldwin	05.17.90	10-2	
34. Harris, Louise	Montgomery	06.23.90	7-5	
35. Giles, Arthur	Morgan	04.26.91	life	On death row
36. Beard, David	Marshall	06.14.91	8-4	
37. Bush, William	Montgomery	06.24.91	12-0	On death row
38. Parker, John	Colbert	12.03.91	10-2	Executed 06.10.10
39. McGahee, Earl	Dallas	02.13.92	10-2	On death row
40. Padgett, Larry	Marshall	05.22.92	9-3	
41. Rieber, Jeffrey	Madison	06.26.92	7-5	On death row
42. Gentry, Ward	Jefferson	11.06.92	7-5	
43. Carr, Patrick	Jefferson	12.01.92	12-0	1.00
44. Knotts, William	Montgomery	01.29.93	9-3	;
45. McNair, Willie	Montgomery	08.18.93	8-4	Executed 05.14.09
46. Burgess, Alonzo	Jefferson	03.21.94	8-4	On death row
47. Roberts, David	Marion	05.04.94	7-5	On death row
48. Myers, Robin	Morgan	06.02.94	9-3	On death row
49. Madison, Vernon	Mobile	07.07.94	8-4	On death row
50. Scott, William	Geneva	09.29.94	12-0	
51. Burgess, Roy	Morgan	12.09.94	10-2	
52. Norris, Michael	Jefferson	01.27.95	8-4	
53. Ponder, Terry	Cullman	03.14.95	8-4	
54. Clark, Andrew	Henry	05.19.95	9-3	On death row
55. Gregory, William	Baldwin	06.12.95	10-2	
56. Smith, Ronald	Madison	10.06.95	7-5	On death row
57. Barnes, Michael	Mobile	12.05.95	9-3	
58. Evans, Edward	Macon	03.29.96	12-0	
			9-3	
59. Smith, Kenneth	Jefferson	05.21.96	11-1	On death row
60. Hyde, James	Marshall	07.19.96	7-5	
61. Carroll, Taurus	Jefferson	02.13.98	10-2	
62. Dorsey, Ethan	Conecuh	02.26.98	11-1	
63. Jackson, Shonelle	Montgomery	07.02.98	12-0	On death row
64. Wimberly, Shaber	Dale	07.30.98	10-2	
•		05.21.01	7-5	
65. Taylor, Jarrod	Mobile	08.25.98	7-5	On death row
66. Ferguson, Thomas	Colbert	09.08.98	11-1	On death row
67. Hodges, Melvin	Lee	07.08.99	8-4	On death row
68. Apicella, Andrew	Jefferson	03.20.00	8-4	On death row
69. Martin, George	Mobile	07.25.00	8-4	On death row
70. Waldrop, Bobby	Randolph	08.16.00	10-2	On death row
71. Lee, Jeffrey	Dallas	10.11.00	7-5	On death row
₹.				

^{4.} Stipulated.

72. Morrow, John	Baldwin	04.17.02	8-4	
73. Moore, Daniel	Morgan	01.23.03	8-4	
74. McGowan, James	Conecuh	04.27.04	7- 5	On death row
75. Yancey, Vernon	Russell	03.16.05	7-5	On death row
76. Eatmon, Dionne	Jefferson	06.28.05	9-3	On death row
77. Harris, Westley	Crenshaw	08.12.05	7-5	On death row
78. Spencer, Kerry	Jefferson	09.23.05	9-3	On death row
•			10-2	
			9-3	
			7-5	
79. Lane, Thomas	Mobile	04.27.06	8-4	On death row
80. Sneed, Ulysses	Morgan	05.12.06	7-5	On death row
81. Billups, Kenneth	Jefferson	06.20.06	7-5	On death row
82. Doster, Oscar	Covington	11.22.06	12-0	On death row
83. Killingsworth, Jimmy	Bibb	12.07.06	7-5	On death row
84. Mitchell, Brandon	Jefferson	02.07.07	10-2	On death row
85. Stanley, Anthony	Colbert	06.19.07	8-4	On death row
86. Spradley, Montez	Jefferson	06.26.08	10-2	On death row
87. Jackson, Demetrius	Jefferson	09.12.08	10-2	On death row
88. Woodward, Mario	Montgomery	09.25.08	8-4	On death row
89. Scott, Christie	Franklin	08.05.09	7-5	On death row
90. McMillan, Calvin	Elmore	08.07.09	8-4	On death row
91. White, Justin	Jefferson	02.04.10	9-3	On death row
92. Riggs, Jeffery	Jefferson	06.04.10	10-2	On death row
93. Lockhart, Courtney	Lee	03.02.11	12-0	On death row

APPENDIX B

CASES IN WHICH THE DEATH PENALTY WAS IMPOSED IN FLORIDA, 1972-2010, AFTER THE TRIAL JURY RECOMMENDED A LIFE SENTENCE (n=166)

		Date of	Florida Supreme Court	Direct Appeal
	Defendant's Name	Sentence ¹	Decision on Direct Appeal	Outcome
1.	Taylor, Joseph	07.27.73	294 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 1974)	1
2.	Jones, Jimmy	09.28.73	332 So. 2d 615 (Fla. 1976)	1
3.	Sawyer, Anthony	10.15.73	313 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 1975)	0^{2}
4.	Douglas, Howard #1	12.04.73	328 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1976)	O^3
5.	McCaskill Jr., James	12.06.73	344 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 1977)	1
6.	Williams, Otis	12.06.73	344 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 1977)	1
7.	Thompson, Larry	01.11.74	328 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1976)	1
8.	Gardner, Daniel	01.30.74	313 So. 2d 675 (Fla. 1975)	04
9.	Swan, Lloyd	03.01.74	322 So. 2d 485 (Fla. 1975)	1
10.	Burch, Jackson	03.29.74	343 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 1977)	1
11.	Slater, Darius	04.04.74	316 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1975)	1
12.	Dobbert Jr., Ernest #1	04.12.74	328 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1976)	0
13.	McCrae, James #1	05.21.74	395 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1981)	05
14.	Tedder, Mack	07.25.74	322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975)	1
15.	Carnes, Walter	11.19.74	316 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1975)	8
16.	Provence, Michael	11.22.74	337 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 1976)	1
17.	Barclay, Elwood #1a	04.10.75	343 So. 2d 1266 (Fla. 1977)	0
18.	Barclay, Elwood #1b	04.10.75	362 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 1978)	3
19.	Buckrem, Franz	05.15.75	355 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1978)	•
20.	Chambers, Glen	07.11.75	339 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1976)	1
21.	Brown, Henry	08.01.75	367 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 1979)	1
22.	Hoy, Darrell	04.27.76	353 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1977)	0
		Executive clemency, 6.12.80.6		
23.	Hall, Jessie	04.30.76	381 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 1979)	2
24.	Malloy, Rodney	05.01.76	382 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1979)	1

- 1. All data on file with author if not otherwise noted.
- 2. Reduced to life by trial court, 08.06.76 (on file with author).
- 3. Remanded to federal district court by the 11th Circuit, 714 F.2d 1532 (1983).
- 4. Sentence vacated, 430 U.S. 349 (1977).
- 5. Remanded for sentence clarification, 437 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). Remanded for resentencing, 510 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1987). Resentenced to death, 04.22.88 (on file with author).
 - 6. David Pero, Hoy's Life Spared, CLEARWATER SUN, June 13, 1980, at 1A.

25.	Walker, Ernest	06.30.76	345 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1977)	8
26.	Spaziano, Joseph #1	07.16.76	393 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1981)	3
27.	Zeigler, William #1	07.16.76	402 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1981)	0
28.	Jacobs, Sonia	08.20.76	396 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 1981)	1
29.	Odom, Eddie	10.08.76	403 So. 2d 936 (Fla. 1981)	1
30.	Williams Jr., Clifford	10.27.76	386 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1980)	1
31.	Lewis, Robert	12.03.76	398 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1981)	3
32.	Shue Jr., William	02.07.77	366 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 1978)	1
33.	Neary, Jack	04.20.77	384 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 1980)	1
34.	Bryant, Alonzo	11.22.77	412 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 1982)	2
35.	Barfield, John	03.03.78	402 So. 2d 377 (Fla. 1981)	1
36.	Buford, Robert #1	03.31.78	403 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1981)	0
37.	McKennon, Roy	04.21.78	403 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 1981)	1
38.	White, Beauford	04.27.78	403 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1981)	0^{7}
39.	Phippen, James	06.22.78	389 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1980)	1
40.	Dobbert Jr., Ernest #2	06.30.78	375 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1979)	0_8
41.	Goodwin, David	08.18.78	405 So. 2d 170 (Fla. 1981)	1
42.	Stokes, Durham	08.25.78	403 So. 2d 377 (Fla. 1981)	1
43.	Welty, William	10.31.78	402 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1981)	1
44.	Porter, Raleigh #1	12.11.78	400 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1981)	3
45.	Smith, Guy	12.21.78	403 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 1981)	1
46.	Johnson, Marvin	01.12.79	393 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1980)	0^9
47.	Heiney, Robert	03.29.79	447 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 1984)	0_{10}
48.	McCampbell, Thomas	04.24.79	421 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1982)	1
49.	Engle, Gregory #1	08.17.79	438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983)	3
50.	Stevens, Rufus #1	08.17.79	419 So. 2d 1058 (Fla. 1982)	0
51.	Webb, Solomon	11.16.79	433 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 1983)	1
52.	Gilvin, William	01.14.80	418 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 1982)	1
53.	Lusk, Bobby	02.05.80	446 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1984)	0^{11}
54.	Miller, Ernest	02.20.80	415 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 1982)	0^{12}
55.	Mills, Gregory	04.18.80	476 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 1985)	$0_{\rm I3}$
56.	Barclay, Elwood #2a	04.18.80	411 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1981)	0^{14}

^{7.} Executed, 08-28-87. Searchable Execution Database, Death Penalty INFORMATION CENTER, http://www.deathpenaltyinfo.org/views-executions [hereinafter DP Searchable Database] (enter inmate's name).

^{8.} Executed, 09.07.84. Id. (enter inmate's name).

^{9.} Died of natural causes on death row, 11/21/99 (on file with author).

Sentence vacated, 620 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1993).

^{10.} Senience vacaied, 020 So. 2d 171 (11d. 1795).

11. Resentenced to life by trial court, 12.96. Martin Bright, Jail Romance Splits

Civil Rights Groups, GAINESVILLE SUN, Feb. 13, 2000, at A1; Appendix C: Incomplete List of

Capital Judgments Reversed on State Post-Conviction and Related Types of Review, COLUMBIA LAW SCHOOL, http://www2.law.columbia.edu/brokensystem2/appendixc.html.

^{12.} Conviction vacated by federal district court after remand, 820 F.2d 1135 (1987).

^{13.} Sentence vacated in 05.01 by Circuit Judge O.H. Eaton, Jr.

57.	Barclay, Elwood #2b	04.18.80	470 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1985)	1
58.	Bolender, Bernard	04.25.80	422 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1982)	0^{15}
59.	Cannady, Michael	06.20.80	427 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1983)	1
60.	Walsh, Donald	06.25.80	418 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1982)	1
61.	McCray, Ervin	08.25.80	416 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 1982)	1
62.	Washington, Ricky	09.15.80	432 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 1983)	1
63.	Routly, Dan	11.24.80	440 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1983)	0^{16}
64.	Norris, Derwin	03.11.81	429 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1983)	1
65.	Jaramillo, Anibal	04.08.81	417 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1982)	6
66.	Andrews Jr., Lucious	04.30.81	443 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 1983)	2
67.	Spaziano, Joseph #2	06.04.81	433 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1983)	0^{17}
68.	Porter, Raleigh #2	08.03.81	429 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1983)	0^{18}
69.	Thomas, Edward	08.24.81	456 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1981)	0_{19}
70.	Herzog, Frederick	12.01.81	439 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1983)	1
71.	Livingston, Aubrey	01.05.82	458 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1984)	2
72.	Richardson, Robert	03.08.82	437 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 1983)	1
73.	Hawkins, David	03.31.82	436 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 1983)	1
74.	Jones, Freddie	04.07.82	464 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 1985)	2
75.	Rivers, Aldelbert	04.08.82	458 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 1984)	1.
*76.	Craig, Robert #1	05.11.82	510 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1987)	3^{20}
77.	Burr, Charlie	06.21.82	466 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1985)	0^{21}
78.	Gorham, David	11.05.82	454 So. 2d 556 (Fla. 1984)	0^{22}
79.	Brown, Larry	11.15.82	473 So. 2d 1260 (Fla. 1985)	0^{23}
80.	Amazon, Ira	12.08.82	487 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1986)	1
81.	Thompson, Isaac	02.11.83	456 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 1984)	1
*82.	Groover, Tommy	02.18.83	458 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1984)	0^{24}

^{14.} New direct appeal granted, 444 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1984), resulting in a life sentence. Execution Order is Tossed, GAINESVILLE SUN, May 2, 2001, at 5b, available at http://news.google.com/newspapers?nid=1320&dat=20010502&id=R-pWAAAAIBAJ&sjid=a-wDAAAAIBAJ&pg=6554,195257.

^{15.} Executed, 07.18.95. DP Searchable Database, supra note 7 (enter inmate's name).

^{16.} Died of natural causes on death row, 1999. Corrections Offender Network, FLA. DEP'T OF CORR. NETWORK, http://www.dc.state.fl.us/InmateReleases/SEARCH.ASP [hereinafter Offender Network] (enter inmate's name).

^{17.} Circuit court's order vacating sentence affirmed, 692 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1997).

^{18.} Sentence vacated, 723 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1998).

^{19.} Sentence vacated, 546 So. 2d 716 (Fla. 1989).

^{20.} Resentenced to death, 11.22.91. Craig v. State, 620 So.2d 174, 176 (Fla. 1993).

^{21.} Sentence vacated, 620 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1991).

^{22.} Conviction vacated, 597 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 1992).

 $^{23.\,}$ Resentenced to life after remanded for evidentiary hearing, 596 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 1992).

^{24.} Still on death row, 06.01.11. Offender Network, supra note 16 (enter inmate's name).

83.	Ramos, Juan	03.10.83	496 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 1986)	2
84.	Francis, Bobby	03.29.83	473 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 1983)	0^{25}
85.	Parker, Robert	04.29.83	458 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 1984)	1
86.	Parker, Robert	04.29.83	643 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 1994)	0^{26}
87.	Huddleston, Harry	07.07.83	475 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1985)	1
88.	Eutzy, William	07.08.83	458 So. 2d 755 (Fla. 1984)	0^{27}
89.	Brown, Anthony	07.27.83	471 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1985)	2
90.	Brookings, Donald	08.11.83	495 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 1986)	1
91.	Echols, Robert	08.12.83	484 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 1985)	0
92.	Dolinsky, Raymond	12.16.83	576 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 1991)	1
93.	Wasko, Edward	03.01.84	505 So. 2d 1314 (Fla. 1987)	1
94.	Nelson Jr., Melvin	04.11.84	490 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1986)	2
95.	Van Royal Jr., Terry	10.19.84	497 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1986)	128
96.	Torres-Arboledo, Osca		524 So. 2d 403 (Fla. 1988)	0
97.	Thompson, Patrick	11.08.84	494 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1986)	2
98.	DuBoise, Robert	03.07.85	520 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1988)	1
99.	Spivey, Jr., Herbert	03.29.85	529 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 1988)	1
100.	Irizarry, Hector	04.04.85	496 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 1986)	1
101.	Hansbrough, Kirk	07.12.85	509 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 1987)	1
	.Douglas, Howard #2	08.02.85	575 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991)	1
103.	Ferry, Jr., John	09.27.85	507 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1987)	1
103.	Cochran, Guy	10.11.85	547 So. 2d 928 (Fla. 1989)	1
105.	Holsworth, Eric	11.01.85	522 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 1988)	1
106.	Fead, Sr., J.C.	11.25.85	512 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1987)	1
107.	Perry, Johnny	01.31.86	522 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1988)	1
	Engle, Gregory #2	03.28.86	510 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 1987)	0^{29}
109.	Brown, Morris	04.04.86	526 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1988)	1
110.	Masterson, John	04.10.86	516 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1987)	1
111.	Burch, Mark	05.21.86	522 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1988)	1
112.	Fuente, Hector	07.01.86	549 So. 2d 652 (Fla. 1989)	1
113.	Merritt, John	08.19.86	523 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 1988)	2
114.	Thompson, Raymond	08.21.86	553 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1989)	0^{30}
115.	Harmon, James	12.22.86	527 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 1988)	1
	Amos, Vernon	12.24.86	545 So. 2d 1352 (Fla. 1989)	2
	Morris, George	03.04.87	557 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1999)	1
11/.	Monns, George	UJ.UT.U/	337 30. 2d 27 (11a. 1990)	1

 $^{25.\ \ \,}$ Executed, 06.25.91. DP Searchable Database, supra note 7 (enter inmate's name).

^{26.} Resentenced to life, 643 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 1994).

^{27.} Relief granted by Federal District Court; affirmed, 912 F.2d 1468 (11th Cir. 1990).

^{28.} Sentence vacated, 636 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 1994).

^{29.} Following denial of relief in 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991), in July 1993 the prosecution and defense agreed to vacate death sentence.

^{30.} Sentence vacated, 731 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 1998).

118	. Caillier, Carla	03.19.87	523 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1988)	1
119	. Hallman, Darrell	05.11.87	560 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 1990)	1
120	. Wright, Mac Ray	09.11.87	586 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1991)	2
121	. Christian, Doy	12.07.87	550 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1989)	1
122	. Freeman, John	12.11.87	547 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1989)	1
123	. Pentecost, David	12.31.87	545 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1989)	1
124	. Hegwood, Bernell	03.29.88	575 So. 2d 170 (Fla. 1991)	1
12	25. McCrae, James #2	04.22.88	582 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1991)	1
126	. Craig, Donnie	05.27.88	585 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1991)	1
12	27. Buford, Robert #2	06.01.88	570 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1990)	1
128	. Carter, Charles	08.26.88	560 So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 1990)	ì
129	. Caruso Jr., Michael	12.02.88	645 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 1994)	1
*13	0. Garcia, Rolando	12.08.88	568 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1990)	2
131	. Bedford, Michael	01.20.89	589 So. 2d 245 (Fla. 1991)	1
132	. Downs, Bobby Lee	03.03.89	574 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1991)	1
133	6. Cheshire, Steven	07.18.89	568 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1990)	1
134	. Cooper, Vernon	07.28.89	581 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 1991)	1
13	35. Zeigler Jr., William #	2 08.17.89	580 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 1991)	0_{31}
136	6. Robinson, Timothy	09.26.89	610 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1992)	
137	7. Coleman, Michael	09.29.89	610 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1992)	0^{33}
138	3. Frazier, Darrell	10.02.89	Vacated by trial court.	
139	Scott, Jeremy	10.04.89	603 So. 2d 1275 (Fla. 1992)	1
140). Marshall, Matthew	12.12.89	604 So. 2d 799 (Fla. 1992)	0
141	. Savage, James	01.23.90	588 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1991)	1
142	2. Jackson, Douglas	04.20.90	599 So. 2d 103 (Fla. 1992)	1
143	8. Reilly, Michael	08.31.90	601 So. 2d 222 (Fla. 1992)	1
1	44. Stevens, Rufus #2	04.26.91	613 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 1992)	1
145	5. Williams, Ronald	06.21.91	622 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 1993)	0^{34}
*14	l6. Garcia, Henry	07.10.91	644 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994)	0^{35}
147	7. Barrett, John	09.03.91	649 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1994)	2
148	3. Christmas, Marc	11.21.91	632 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1994)	1
*14	19. Craig, Robert #2	11.22.91	620 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1993)	9^{36}

^{31.} Still on death row, 06.01.11.

^{32.} Still on death row, 06.01.11.

^{33.} Reduced to life by Florida Supreme Court, 06.02.11, 64 So.3d 1210 (Fla. 2011).

^{34.} Remanded for imposition of life sentence, 987 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2008).

^{5.} Died of natural causes on death row, 11.26.09 (on file with author).

^{36.} In this case there were two victims, and at the original trial, Mr. Craig received one death recommendation and one life recommendation, but two death sentences. See Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1987). Both death sentences were vacated on appeal. Id. With no new jury recommendations, Craig was resentenced to death on both counts. Craig v. State, 620 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1993). In this 1993 decision, the Florida Supreme Court instructed that the original life recommendation should stand, remanded the case with the original death recommendation back to trial court for a new sentencing with a new jury, and instructed the

```
150. Perez, Augustine
                            12.13.91
                                          648 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1995)
151. Turner, Eric
                            04.10.92
                                          645 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 1994)
                                                                       1
152. Washington, Anthony 09.04.92
                                          653 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 1995)
153. Esty, Sean
                            09.09,92
                                          642 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 1994)
154. Boyett, Matthew
                            05,14,93
                                          688 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1996)
                                                                       1
155. Pomeranz, Stuart
                            09.09.93
                                          703 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1997)
**156.Craig, Robert #3
                            09.27.93
                                          685 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 1996) 938
*157. Mahn, Jason
                            02.23.94
                                          714 So. 2d 391 (Fla. 1998)
158. Jenkins, Lorenzo
                            04.11.94
                                          692 So. 2d 893 (Fla. 1997)
                                                                       1
159. Strausser, William
                            09.01.94
                                          682 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1996)
                                                                       1
160. San Martin, Pablo
                            10.11.94
                                          717 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 1998)
                                                                       1
161. Marta-Rodriguez, Cruz 02.17.95
                                          699 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 1997)
                                                                       1
162. Harrison, Dwight
                            11.27.95
                                                                       8^{40}
                                                                       0^{41}
*163. Zakrzewski, Edward
                            04.19.96
                                          717 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1998)
164. Keen, Michael
                            07.15.96
                                          775 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 2000)
                                                                       2
165. Ramirez, Joseph
                            03.13.98
                                          810 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 2001)
                                                                       2
166. Weaver, Jeffrey
                            08.27.99
                                          894 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 2004)
                                                                       1^{42}
```

- 146. defendants sentenced to death after jury recommended life.
- --11 cases where defendant was resentenced to death after a remand for judge-only resentencing but no new jury recommendation
- *8 cases with multiple victims, with the jury recommending both life and death, but the defendant was sentenced to death on all counts.
- **1 case with multiple victims, with the jury recommending both life and death, but the defendant was sentenced to death on all counts, and

judge to impose new sentences on both counts. See Craig v. State, 685 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 1996).

^{37.} Still on death, row 06.01.11. Offender Network, supra note 16 (enter inmate's name).

^{38.} After remand, Mr. Craig received two death sentences, one based on the original jury recommendation of life, and the second based on a recommendation of death from a new jury. *Craig*, 685 So. 2d at 1224-25. The Florida Supreme Court resentenced Mr. Craig to life on the first case and ordered a new sentencing for the case that had the death recommendation *Id* at 1230-31

^{39.} In this case, there were two victims, and the jury recommended life in one case and death in the second. Mahn v. State, 714 So.2d 391, 394-95 (Fla. 1998). The trial judge overrode the first recommendation and imposed two death sentences. *Id.* at 395. The Florida Supreme Court resentenced Mahn to life in the case that had the life recommendation, and ordered a new sentencing hearing, with a new jury, in the case that had the death recommendation. *Id.* at 403.

^{40.} Died on death row, 04.21.99. See Lucy Morgan, Condemned Man's Death is Sixth This Year Not in the Chair, ST. PETERSBURG TIMES (Fla.), Sept. 25, 1999, at 5B.

^{41.} Still on death row, 06.01.11. Offender Network, supra note 16 (enter inmate's name).

^{42.} Because of statutory changes that went into effect in 1994, *see* note 98 of the article, this sentence was reduced to life imprisonment without parole eligibility, not life defined as 25 years degree minimum. Weaver v. State, 894 So.2d 178, 178 (Fia. 2004).

again resentenced to death after the second remand by the Florida Supreme Court.

Direc	et Appeal Outcome	# of Cases
0	Affirmed	43
1	Reduced to life (25 years minimum)	94
2	Remanded for new trial	16
3	Remanded for new sentencing, without jury	5
6	Reduced to non-first degree murder or dismissed	1
8	Death before direct appeal decided	3
9	Other	3
	Vacated by trial court before direct appeal	1

APPENDIX C

DEATH-TO-LIFE OVERRIDES IN FLORIDA, 1992-MID-2011

(n=40)

1. Armour, Donald Hugh

March 1976²

New Port Richey

Jury Recommendation: Unknown Trial Judge: Lawrence E. Keough³ Defense Attorney: Robert Focht

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing one of his two wives, Jacqueline, shortly after she learned that Armour was also married to the other woman.⁴ Armour immediately turned himself into the police and confessed.⁵ Judge Keough overrode the jury's recommendation of death, "apparently considering Armour's lack of a previous criminal record and his physical and mental state at the time of the crime." Armour died in prison on Dec. 1, 2007.

2. Barber, Justin

September 2006

St. Augustine

Jury recommendation: 8-48

^{1.} As of June 30, 2011. This report updates Michael L. Radelet & Michael Mello, *Death to Life Overrides: Saving the Resources of the Florida Supreme Court*, 20 FLA. ST. U. L. REV. 195 (1992). The 1992 FSU paper documented fifty-one death-to-life overrides through the end of 1991 that had been given to forty-seven defendants. This Appendix includes cases from 1992-present, with one additional case from 1976 that did not come to our attention until after 1992 (case of Donald Armour, *infra*).

^{2.} Cary Davis, Man Who Killed His Wife Might Be Set Free, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Feb. 16, 2003, at 9.

^{3.} Id.

^{4.} *Id*.

⁵ In

^{6.} David M. Snyder, Despite Jury's Recommendation, Armour Gets Life Term for Murder, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Mar. 19, 1976, at 1, available at http://news.google.com/newspapers?nid=888&dat=19760319&id=3SEMAAAIBAJ&sjid=UF0DAAAAIBAJ&pg=5505,2654187.

^{7.} Corrections Offender Network, FLA. DEP'T OF CORR. NETWORK, http://www.dc.state.fl.us/InmateReleases/SEARCH.ASP (enter inmate's name).

^{8.} Barber v. State, 4 So. 3d 9, 11 (5th Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2009).

Trial Judge: Edward Hedstrom⁹ Defense Attorney: Robert Willis¹⁰

Case Synopsis: Convicted (after four days of deliberation¹¹) of killing his wife, April Barber, during a stroll on the beach.¹² Barber refused to allow his family to testify during the penalty phase and "refused to ask for leniency," steadfastly maintaining his innocence.¹³ Consequently, the penalty phase consisted of a three-minute statement from the defense attorney, during which the attorney advised the jury that Mr. Barber did not want to present mitigation for an act for which he was not responsible.¹⁴ The judge explained his decision on the basis of the fact that the jury did not hear any mitigation, and thus their opinion did not hold great weight.¹⁵ It is likely that lingering doubts about the defendant's guilt also played a role.¹⁶

3. Barnes, Corrie D.

July 2004

Shalimar

Jury recommendation: 7-5¹⁷

Trial Judge: Thomas Remington¹⁸

Defense Attorneys: Jerry T. Allred and Martin Lester

Case Synopsis: Sentenced to two life terms for shooting and killing Edward Carthon, and then firing shots at an Okaloosa County Sheriff's Deputy¹⁹ (the latter resulted in a conviction for attempted first-degree murder).²⁰ Mr. Carthon's widow had argued in favor of a life sentence, stating after the verdict, "It's a big relief'....'I accept what they gave

^{9.} Christina Abel, Barber Vows to Pursue Vindication; Judge Gave Man Life in Prison Because Defense Offered No Testimony at His Sentencing, FLORIDA TIMES-UNION, Sept. 20, 2006, at V-1.

^{10.} Id.

^{11.} Letter from Robert Stuart Willis, attorney for Justin Barber, to author (June 24, 2008) (on file with the author).

^{12.} Barber, 4 So. 3d at 10-11.

^{13.} Abel, *supra* note 9, at V-1; Harriet Ryan, *Lawyer Scolds Jury; Client Gets Death*, CNN, June 26, 2006, http://www.cnn.com/2006/LAW/06/26/barber.dealth/index.html.

^{14.} Ryan, supra note 13.

^{15.} Abel, supra note 9, at V-1.

^{16.} Barber, 4 So.3d at 11; Letter from Robert Stuart Willis, supra note 11.

^{17.} Jeff Ayres, Convicted Killer is Spared Death, NORTHWEST FLA. DAILY NEWS (Fort Walton Beach, Fla.), July 31 2004, at A1.

^{18.} Id.

^{19.} Ia

^{20.} Jeff Ayers, Barnes Apologizes, Claims Innocence, NORTHWEST FLA. DAILY NEWS (Fort Walton Beach, Fia.), July 3, 2004, at B1.

him[,] and I'm proud they did justice." According to newspaper reports, the defense attorneys "presented testimony indicating Barnes had suffered several head injuries as a child and that lingering effects from those injuries could have affected his behavioral patterns." They also argued that there were lingering doubts about guilt. 23

4. Bennett, Christopher Lamont

May 2006

Key West

Jury recommendation: 10-224

Trial Judge: Leonard Glick (visiting judge)²⁵

Defense Attorney: Trish Docherty²⁶

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing his five-year-old son, Zachary.²⁷ Some forty family members attended the sentencing hearing to support Christopher's plea to be spared the death penalty.²⁸ Said the trial judge, "[I]n weighing the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances, the scales of life and death tilt to the side of life in state prison without the possibility of parole."²⁹ The mother and grandmother of the victim settled a civil suit against the Department of Children and Families for \$160,000 for placing the boy in the custody of his father, despite his long criminal record.³⁰

5. Carpenter, David Charles

June 2003

Largo

Jury recommendation: 7-5³¹ Trial Judge: Dee Anna Farnell³²

Defense Attorneys: D. Robert Lewis and Robert Ford³³

- 21. Ayers, supra note 17, at A1.
- 22. *Id*.
- 23. Jeff Ayres, Judge Rejects Jury's Recommendation, Declining to Elaborate on His Decision, NORTHWEST FLA. DAILY NEWS (Fort Walton Beach, Fla.), Jul. 31, 2004.
- 24. Christine Braden, Bennett Spared Death Sentence: Judge Hands Down a Life Prison Term, Fla. Keys Keynoter, May 24, 2006.
 - 25. Id
 - 26. Christine Braden, Defense Argues for Life, FLA. KEYS KEYNOTER, Apr. 5, 2006.
 - 27. Braden, supra note 24.
 - 28. Id.
 - 29. Id
- 30. Man Found Guilty of Stomping his 5-Year-Old Son to Death, GAINESVILLE SUN, Feb. 14, 2006, http://www.gainesville.com/article/20060214/LOCAL/202140341.
- 31. David Sommer, Killer's 3rd Sentence Yields Life Term, TAMPA TRIB., June 24, 2003, at 4.
 - 32. Id

Case Synopsis: This was the third time that Mr. Carpenter had been sentenced for the murder of Ann Powell, age 63.³⁴ In 1996, Carpenter was sentenced to death following a 7-5 jury recommendation, but this recommendation was thrown out by the trial judge because the jury was told that he might be eligible for parole if sentenced to life.³⁵ He was resentenced to death in 1997 after a new jury voted 10-2 for death.³⁶ That conviction was thrown out by the Florida Supreme Court in 2001.³⁷ In 2003, Judge Farnell rejected the jury's recommendation of death "because she didn't think prosecutors proved Carpenter was more responsible for the 1994 killing than a friend who also participated."³⁸ Carpenter may have also had a lesser role in the murder than the accomplice (a juvenile who pled to second-degree murder).³⁹

6-7. Chilmonik, Adam and Hubbard, David

March 1994

Ft. Myers

Jury recommendations: 8-4 for (Chilmonik)⁴⁰ and 9-3 (Hubbard)⁴¹

Trial Judge: William Nelson⁴²

Defense Attorneys: Dennis J. Rehak, for Chilmonik;⁴³ Barbara LeGrande for Hubbard⁴⁴

Case Synopsis: Convicted of the murder of a clerk at a 7-11, Steven Reid, during a robbery.⁴⁵ The judge felt that premeditation was never proven and that it was impossible to tell who pulled the trigger.⁴⁶ In addition, the judge found that because of excessive alcohol consumption, Chilmonik's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the

^{33.} *Id*.

^{34.} William R. Levesque, Judge Reduces Death Sentence to Life in Prison, ST. PETERSBURG TIMES (Fla.), June 24, 2003, at 3.

^{35.} Sommer, supra note 31, at 4; Levesque, supra note 34, at 3.

^{36.} Sommer, *supra* note 31, at 4; Levesque, *supra* note 34, at 3.

^{37.} Carpenter v. State, 785 So. 2d 1182, 1185 (Fla. 2001).

^{38.} Levesque, supra note 34, at 3; Sommer, supra note 31, at 4.

^{39.} Sommer. supra note 31, at 4; Levesque, supra note 34, at 3.

^{40.} Verdict at 1, State v. Chilmonik, No. 92-969CF-B (20th Fla. Cir. Ct. 1994).

^{41.} Verdict at 1, State v. Hubbard, No. 92-0969CF-A (20th Fla. Cir. Ct. 1994).

^{42.} Bob Norman, Judge Spares Lives of 2 Men, News-PRESS (Fort Meyers, Fla.), Mar. 17, 1994, at 1B.

Notice of Appearance at 1, State v. Chilmonik, No. 92-969CF-B-WJN (20th Fla. Cir. Ct. 1992).

^{44.} Order at 1, Florida v. Hubbard, No. 92-0969CF-A WHN (20th Fla. Cir. Ct. 1993).

^{45.} Norman, supra note 42, at 1B.

^{46.} Sentencing Order at 2-4, State v. Hubbard, No. 92-0969CF-A (20th Fla. Cir. Ct. 1994).

law was impaired.⁴⁷ Chilmonik was age eighteen at the time of the offense.⁴⁸

8. Davis, Darrell

June 1997

Jacksonville

Jury recommendation: 7-5⁴⁹ Trial Judge: Henry Davis⁵⁰ Defense Attorney: Jerry Shea⁵¹

Case Synopsis: Davis and a friend, Robert Thomas, were convicted of kidnapping two victims (one male and one female), robbing and raping the woman and killing the man, Imara Skinner.⁵² In sentencing Davis to life, the trial judge said that "[e]vidence did not show Darrell Davis knew Thomas would kill Skinner."⁵³ Thomas was originally sentenced

to death for the murder, but this sentence was vacated,⁵⁴ and in 2000 he

was resentenced to forty-five years.55

9. Durain, Daniel G.

March 1998

Ft. Myers

Jury Recommendation: 7-5⁵⁶ Trial Judge: Isaac Anderson⁵⁷

Defense Attorney: Kenneth Garber⁵⁸

Case Synopsis: Durain was visiting Ft. Myers and staying with a friend and the friend's roommate, Glenn Harkins. 59 Durain's car had been sto-

^{47.} Sentencing Order at 3, State v. Chilmonik, No. 92-0969CF-B (20th Fla. Cir. Ct. 1994).

^{48.} Id. at 5.

Beau Halton, Judge Overrules Death Sentence, FLA. TIMES-UNION (Jacksonville, Fla.), June 27, 1997, at B-2.

^{50.} Id.

^{51.} Information on the name of the defendant's attorney is on file with the author.

^{52.} Vivian Wakefield, Retrial Plea Closes '96 Murder Case, FLA. TIMES-UNION (Jacksonville, Fla.), Nov. 3, 2000, at B-1; Halton, supra note 49, at B-2.

^{53.} Halton, supra note 49, at B-2.

Thomas v. State, 748 So. 2d 970, 973-74 (Fla. 1999).

^{55.} Wakefield, supra note 52, at B-1.

^{56.} Peter Franceschina, Killer Out to Sue Sheriff, NEWS-PRESS (Fort Myers, Fla.), June 4, 2000, at 1D.

^{57.} Southwest Florida Digest, Lee County, Life Sentence, NEWS-PRESS (Fort Myers, Fla.), Mar. 26, 1998, at 2B.

^{58.} Information on the name of the defendant's attorney is on file with the author.

^{59.} Franceschina, supra note 56, at 1D.

len, and he had lost his job. 60 After a day of drinking, Durain and Harkins got into a fight (allegedly after Harkins teased Durain by calling him a "mama's boy"). 61 Later that day, Harkins was beaten with a bat and a plastic bag was placed over his head. 62 Prosecutors claimed that he had been attacked in his bed as he slept. 63 According to newspaper reports, Judge Anderson "ruled that the one aggravating factor that went toward the death penalty—that the slaying was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel—was outweighed by several mitigating factors for a life sentence."

10. Galloway, David

November 1998

Largo

Jury recommendation: 7-565

Trial Judge: David Seth Walker⁶⁶ Defense Attorney: Anne Borghetti⁶⁷

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing a two-week-old child who he erroneously believed was his son. 68 Judge Walker cited Galloway's lack of a prior record and evidence of severe mental retardation. 69

11. Gatlin, Brandan

December 2004

Bartow

Jury Recommendation: 12-0⁷⁰ Trial Judge: Dennis Maloney⁷¹

Defense Attorneys: Robert Norgard⁷² and Deborah Wells⁷³

- 60. Id.
- 61. Id.
- 62. Id.
- 63. Id
- 64. Southwest Florida Digest, supra note 57, at 2B.
- 65. William R. Levesque, Man Gets Life Term for Death of Baby, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Nov. 14, 1998, at 3B.
 - 66. Id.
 - 67. Id.
 - 68. *Id*.
 - 69. Id.
- 70. Jason Geary, Convict Escapes Death: Judge Rejects Jury's Choice and Sends Murderer to Prison for Life, LEDGER (Lakeland, Fla.), Dec. 18, 2004, www.theledger.com/article/20041218/NEWS/412180376.
 - 71. *Id.*
 - 72. Id.
 - 73. Information on the name of the defendant's attorney is on file with the author.

Case Synopsis: Convicted of the murder of a Lakeland convenience store owner, (Ms.) Varsha Patel. 4 Judge Malonev found that there was intent to rob, but not kill, and his order focused heavily on Gatlin's chaotic childhood.⁷⁵ Gatlin had a prior conviction for robbing a pizza deliveryman.76 In 2001, while in jail awaiting trial for the murder, Gatlin and another inmate severely beat another jail inmate, leaving the victim in a coma for six months. 77 Both men received thirty-year sentences for that crime.78

12. Green, Troy

March 2003

Tampa

Jury Recommendation: 8-479

Trial Judge: J. Rogers Padgett80

Defense Attorney: Deborah Goins81

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing a female acquaintance, DeCarla Dixon, who had cerebral palsy and could not walk. 82 The victim was stabbed thirty-nine times, 83 left in her home, and her very young children came home and found her on the floor.84 Her dying declaration named "Troy" as her killer.85 Testimony at the penalty phase revealed that Green had a low IQ and neuropsychological deficits.86 Judge Padgett determined that the murder was not "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel," and that the mitigation was sufficient to overcome aggravating circumstances.87

^{74.} Geary, supra note 70.

^{75.} Id.

^{76.} *Id.*

^{77.} Amy L. Edwards, Inmates Charged in Jail Attack, LEDGER (Lakeland, Fla.), Apr. 21, 2004, www.theledger.com/article/20040421/NEWS/404210348.

Rejecting Jury, Judge Gives Life, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Mar. 19, 2003, at 4B.

^{80:}

^{81.} E-mail from Deborah Goins, defense attorney for Troy Green, to author (June 5, 2008) (on file with author).

^{82.} See Rejecting Jury, Judge Gives Life, supra note 79, at 4B (stating that the victim had cerebral palsy); see also Joshua B. Good, Judge Rejects Opinions of Jurors, Orders Life Sentence, Not Death, TAMPA TRIB., Mar. 18, 2003, at Metro 3 (indicating the victim was "disabled").

^{83.} Rejecting Jury, Judge Gives Life, supra note 79, at 4B.

^{84.} E-mail from Deborah Goins, supra note 81.

^{85.}

^{86.}

^{87.} Rejecting Jury, Judge Gives Life, supra note 79, at 4B; Good, supra note 82, at Metro 3; E-mail from Deborah Goins, supra note 81.

13. Grodin, Justin

September 2009

Ft. Myers

Jury Recommendation: 10-2⁸⁸ Trial Judge: Edward Volz, Jr. ⁸⁹

Defense Attorneys: Ray LeGrande90 and John Mills91

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing his eleven-month old stepdaughter. After the death, Grodin and his wife, Mary (who was convicted of child abuse for her role in the case and sentenced to thirteen years in prison⁹³), buried the baby and fled to Seattle, where they were arrested. In Sentencing him to life imprisonment, Judge Volz cited Grodin's lifelong history of mental illness (including two stays in a mental hospital), his tumultuous childhood, and the lack of evidence that he intended to kill the baby. He also noted the culpability and disparate treatment of Mary Grodin:

Although three aggravating circumstances were established, they simply do not rise to the level whereby this case could be characterized as one of the most aggravated. . . . The court concludes that this homicide, though despicable, does not place it in the category of the most aggravated and least mitigated for which the death penalty is appropriate. ⁹⁷

After the sentence was announced, State Attorney Anthony Kunasek said that he was not disappointed, since jurors often cast death penalty votes based on emotion, not the law.⁹⁸

14. Harris, Alfred B.

May 2002

Tampa

Jury recommendation: 10-299

^{88.} Pat Gillespie, Nine Years Later, Child Killer Justin Grodin Gets Life, News-Press (Fort Myers, Fla.), Sept. 19, 2009.

^{89.} Pat Gillespie, Mary Grodin Sentenced to 13 Years, News-Press (Fort Myers, Fla.), Sept. 22, 2009, B1.

^{90.} Gillespie, supra note 88.

^{91.} Sentencing Order at 1, State v. Grodin, No. 00CF3779 (20th Fla. Cir. Ct. Sept. 18, 2009) [hereinafter Grodin Sentencing Order].

^{92.} Gillespie, supra note 89, at B1.

^{93.} *Id*.

^{94.} Gillespie, supra note 88.

^{95.} Grodin Gets Life for Killing Toddler, WZVN-HD, Sept. 18, 2009, http://www.abc-7.com/Global/story.asp?S=11154402.

^{96.} *Id.*

^{97.} Grodin Sentencing Order, supra note 91, at 12-13.

^{98.} Gillespie, supra note 88.

Trial Judge: J. Rogers Padgett¹⁰⁰ Defense Attorney: Robert Fraser¹⁰¹

Case Synopsis: Convicted of burglarizing the home of seventy-one-year old Raymond Brooks, beating him with an iron skillet, killing him with a butcher knife, and then raping Mrs. Brooks. ¹⁰² In sentencing Harris to life in prison, Judge J. Rogers Padgett noted Brooks died suddenly and may not have been fully aware of what was happening to him. ¹⁰³ "The defense argued that the blow from the skillet stunned Brooks, or even knocked him out, before the knife attack." ¹⁰⁴ As recounted by a newspaper report, Judge Padgett wrote in his order that "This killing is not one of the most wicked of the wicked for which the death penalty is reserved." ¹⁰⁵ Padgett concluded that "the jury's call for death was skewed by emotionally wrenching testimony about the rape of Brooks' wife. But Brooks was already dead when that happened." ¹⁰⁶ The newspaper report continued:

The undisputed depravity of the killer's youth also tilted the judge toward mercy. According to testimony, Harris was raised by a neglectful mother who encouraged his criminality. When Harris was about 11, for instance, he helped his mother rob men she lured into the woods with the promise of sex.

Padgett called the neglect and abuse Harris suffered "as bad as, if not worse than, any this court has ever heard," adding that he was "destined to end up where he is now." ¹⁰⁷

15. Heyne, Justin

December 2009

Viera

Jury recommendation: 8-4¹⁰⁸ Trial Judge: O.H. Eaton, Jr.¹⁰⁹ Defense Attorney: Randy Moore¹¹⁰

^{99.} Christopher Goffard, *Judge Rejects Death for Killer*, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), May 7, 2002.

^{100.} Id.

^{101.} *Id*.

^{102.} Id.

^{103.} Id.

^{104.} Id.

^{105.} Id.

^{106.} *Id.* 107. *Id.*

^{108.} Keyonna Summers, Killer Justin Heyne Gets Death Penalty, Fla. Today, Dec. 17, 2009.

^{109.} Id

^{110.} Sentencing Order, State v. Heyne at 18, No. 2006-CF-19237-A (18th Fla. Cir. Ct. Dec. 17, 2009) [hereinafter Heyne Sentencing Order].

Case Synopsis: Heyne was convicted of killing Sarah Buckoski, her boyfriend, Benjamin Hamilton, and their five-year-old daughter, Ivory. Hamilton and Heyne had been best friends and heavily involved in drug dealing; Heyne had been living with the family when the murders occurred. The jury voted 8-4 to recommend a death sentence for Buckoski's death, but Judge Eaton rejected this vote and sentenced Heyne to life imprisonment on this count. Following jury recommendations, Heyne was sentenced to life for the murder of Benjamin Hamilton, and to death for the murder of the child. In his sentencing memorandum, Judge Eaton found that Heyne had a significant history of mental illness that outweighed any aggravation in the case.

16. Jamison, Lewis

October 1995

Bartow

Jury recommendation: 8-4¹¹⁷

Trial Judge: J. Tim Strickland¹¹⁸

Defense Attorney: Robin Matis-Jackson¹¹⁹

Case Synopsis: Jamison, age 64, was convicted of shooting Matthew Roosevelt Biggs, age 65, during an argument.¹²⁰ Jamison had a 1970 conviction for manslaughter in South Carolina and a sexual battery with slight force in 1981.¹²¹ Jamison was intoxicated at the time of the crime, and the judge cited both his age and his alcoholism in the decision.¹²²

17. Johnson, Lloyd

June 2004

West Palm Beach

Jury recommendation: 7-5123

- 111. Summers, supra note 108.
- 112. Id.; Heyne Sentencing Order, supra note 110, at 2.
- 113. Summers, supra note 108.
- 114. *Id.*
- 115. Id.; Heyne Sentencing Order, supra note 110, at 17.
- 116. Heyne Sentencing Order, supra note 110, at 10-11.
- 117. Bill Henry, Judge Rejects Jury's Choice, Gives Life Term, TAMPA TRIB., Oct. 13, 1995, at 1.
 - 118. Id.
- Bill Henry, Jury Recommends Murderer Should Die in Electric Chair, TAMPA TRIB., Oct. 06, 1995.
 - 120. Henry, supra note 117, at 1.
 - 121. Ia
 - 122. lc
- 123. Susan Spencer-Wendel, Pair Get Life in Murders of 3 Women at Restaurant, PALM BEACH POST, June 11, 2004.

Trial Judge: Stephen Rapp¹²⁴

Defense Attorneys: Phillip Massa (penalty phase)¹²⁵ and Robert Gershman¹²⁶

Case Synopsis: Convicted, with Randall Leighty, of killing three women, execution style, during the robbery of a Greenacres restaurant.¹²⁷ The men were tried together with separate juries.¹²⁸ Johnson's jury recommended death; Leighty's recommended life (10-2).¹²⁹ Consequently, Judge Rapp concluded that it would be disproportionate to sentence the defendants to different sentences.¹³⁰ There was no consensus on who did the shooting or on who possessed the gun.¹³¹

18. Knight, Ronald

December 1995

W. Palm Beach

Jury recommendation: 12-0¹³² Trial Judge: Edward Rodgers¹³³ Defense Attorney: Gregg Lerman¹³⁴

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing Brendan Meehan, who was chosen as a victim because he was gay. 135 The jury spent only nineteen minutes deliberating on penalty, and Judge Rodgers said that was insufficient to properly weigh the decision. 136 In addition, Judge Rodgers found that the prosecution did not prove "heightened premeditation." 137 Further,

^{124.} Id.

^{125.} *Id.*; see Letter from Robert S. Gershman, Attorney for Lloyd Johnson, to author (June 24, 2008) (on file with author).

^{126.} Spencer-Wendel, supra note 123.

^{127.} Id.

^{128.} Id.

^{129.} Editorial, *Split Decision on Death*, PALM BEACH POST, May 27, 2004. Leighty's defense attorneys were Mitchell Beers and Ned Reagan. Spencer-Wendel, *supra* note 123.

^{130.} Spencer-Wendel, supra note 123.

^{131.} *Id*.

^{132.} Stephanie Smith, Judge Gives Killer Two Life Terms; Jury's 12-0 Death Recommendation Rejected, SUN SENTINEL (Fort Lauderdale, Fla.), Dec. 9, 1995, at 1A.

^{133.} Ia

^{134.} Mike Folks, Jury Takes Only 12 Minutes to Decide on Death Penalty, SUN SENTINEL (Fort Lauderdale, Fla.), Nov. 18, 1995.

^{135.} Florida Briefing: Jury Urges Execution in Gay Hate Slaying, FLORIDA TIMES-UNION, Nov. 19, 1995; Jury Suggests Death for Gay Hate Crime, GAINESVILLE SUN, November 19, 1995.

^{136.} Stephanie Smith, Man Gets Life Terms Despite Jury's Recommendation, SUN SENTINEL (Fort Lauderdale, Fla.), Dec. 9, 1995.

^{137.} David Holmberg, Judge: Decision on Death Rushed, PALM BEACH POST, Dec. 9, 1995, at A1 (quoting Judge Rodgers).

an accomplice was sentenced to only ten years for his role in the crime. ¹³⁸ Later, Knight was sentenced to death for a second, similar murder, and that conviction and sentence were upheld on appeal. ¹³⁹

19. Lewis, James Darrell

May 2008

Titusville

Jury recommendation: 7-5¹⁴⁰ Trial Judge: Lisa Davidson¹⁴¹

Defense Attorney: J. Randall Moore¹⁴²

Case Synopsis: Convicted of beating to death a fellow homeless man, Donald Kirby. 143 Lewis was already serving two life sentences for a 1999 murder (the killing of a seventy-seven-year old during a crack cocaine binge) when he came forward in 2006 and pleaded guilty to the robbery and murder of Kirby. 144 Judge Davidson cited remorse, taking full responsibility, lack of violent criminal history, and adjustment to prison as mitigating factors. 145 "'The Court finds that the defendant has the ability to be a positive influence on his fellow inmates." 145

20. McBride, Kenneth Ray

February, 2011

Green Cove Springs

Jury Recommendation: 8-4¹⁴⁷ Trial Judge: John H. Skinner¹⁴⁸ Defense Attorney: Refik Eler¹⁴⁹

Case Synopsis: McBride was convicted of strangling Roberta Laws, a wheelchair-bound cerebral palsy victim who he had dated for approxi-

^{138.} Id

Knight v. State, 770 So.2d 663 (Fla. 2000).

^{140.} Keyonna Summers, Prisoner Gets Two More Life Sentences: Jury Urged Death for Fatal Beating, Fl.A. Today, May 24, 2008.

^{141,} Id.

^{142.} Information on the name of the defendant's attorney is on file with the author.

^{143.} Summers, supra note 140.

^{144.} Id.

^{145.} *Id*.

^{146.} Id. (quoting Judge Davidson).

^{147.} David Hunt, State Attorney Angela Corey Blasts Judge Who 'Deprived' Death, FLA. TIMES UNION (Jacksonville), Feb. 25. 2011.

^{148.} Id

^{149.} David Hunt, Killer of Disabled Clay County Woman Sentenced to Life, Fla. Times Union (Jacksonville), Feb. 17, 2011.

mately twelve years.¹⁵⁰ After the murder, McBride buried the body.¹⁵¹ Midway through his trial, McBride stopped the proceedings and entered a guilty plea.¹⁵² The jury recommendation was returned after less than fifteen minutes of deliberation.¹⁵³ Six minutes thereafter, Judge Skinner imposed a life sentence on the grounds of Mr. McBride's remorse and that he thought a life prison sentence would be most appropriate.¹⁵⁴ There was also concern about proportionality; a second woman who McBride had been dating and apparently conspired with in the murder was never charged.¹⁵⁵ The State Attorney filed a motion blasting the decision,¹⁵⁶ and Judge Skinner responded by stating, "The court recognizes that reasonable people may disagree as to the facts and the application of those facts to the law."¹⁵⁷

21. Morris, Walter

February 2001

Largo

Jury recommendation: 8-4¹⁵⁸ Trial Judge: Robert Beach¹⁵⁹

Defense Attorneys: Violet Assaid and Chris Helinger¹⁶⁰

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing his housemate's thirty-four-month old child, Dustin Gee. 161 The child had suffered from a long history of abuse by his mother before Morris arrived on the scene. 162 "The beating of Dustin resulting in his death by the defendant was inexcusable but was not planned or done with premeditation (and) came about as a result of his inability to control his temper. 10163

- 150. Hunt, supra note 147.
- 151. *Id.*
- 152. Hunt, supra note 149.
- 153. Id.
- 154. Hunt, supra note 147.
- 155. Hunt, supra note 149.
- 156. Hunt, *supra* note 147.
- 157. Law & Disorder: Judge Has Short Reply to State Attorney Corey Criticism, Fl.A. TIMES UNION (Jacksonville), Mar. 3, 2011.
- 158. David Sommer, Man Who Killed Tot Gets Life in Prison, TAMPA TRIB., Feb. 16, 2001, at Metro 4.
 - 159. Id.
- 160. William R. Levesque, 2-Year-Old Boy's Killer Avoids Death Penalty, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Feb. 16, 2001, at 1B.
 - 161. Sommer, supra note 158, at Metro 4.
- 162. *Id.*; Levesque, *supra* note 160, at 1B; E-mail from George Couture, to author (Aug. 20, 2002) (on file with author); John M. Richardson, *Reforming the Jury Override: Protecting Capital Defendants' Rights by Returning to the System's Original Purpose*, 94 J. CRIM. L. & CRIMINOLOGY 455, 463-64 (2004).
 - 163. Levesque, supra note 162, at 1B (quoting Judge Beach).

22. Murphy, Gregory

July 2008

Daytona Beach

Jury Recommendation: 8-4¹⁶⁴ Trial Judge: J. David Walsh¹⁶⁵

Defense Attorneys: Matthew Phillips and James Valerino 166

Case Synopsis: Murphy was convicted of killing Erleen Albright, who was a housekeeper for Mr. Murphy's employer. ¹⁶⁷ She was also the mother of Tony Bobbitt, who had a brief career as a professional basketball player. ¹⁶⁸ Evidence presented by the defense indicated that Murphy had a long history of mental illness. ¹⁶⁹

23-24. Myers, David [judge overrode two death recommendations]

June 2011

Sarasota

Jury Recommendations: 7-5 (Modlin) and 9-3 (Bistanin)¹⁷⁰

Trial Judge: Charles Roberts¹⁷¹

Defense Attorney: Carolyn Schlemmer¹⁷²

Case Synopsis: Myers, age 68, was convicted of killing his exgirlfriend and her new boyfriend. In overriding the death recommendations, Judge Roberts cited the extensive mitigation in the case, including Myers's advanced age, military service, lack of criminal history, and his severe mental impairments. Judge Roberts noted that if death were imposed, the appellate reviews of the case would last until Myers was well past his 80th birthday. Said prosecutor Karen Fraivillig, "I know Judge Roberts is someone who is very wise and certainly undertook this and come up with the very best determination of what he thought was the appropriate sentence." 173

- 164. E-mail from Edith Georgi, to author (Dec. 9, 2010) (on file with author).
- 165. Id.
- 166. Id.
- 167. Id.
- 168. Id.
- 169. Ludmilla Lelis, *Killer Should Die, Volusia Jury Says*, ORLANDO SENTINEL, Mar. 27, 2008, http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2008-03-27/news/penalty27_1_albrightmurphy-death-sentence; Jay Stapleton, *Judge Overturns Death Penalty in 1997 Murder*, DAYTONA BEACH NEWS-J., July 12, 2008.
 - 170. Information on the jury recommendation is on file with the author.
 - 171. Information on the name of the trial judge is on file with the author.
 - 172. Information on the name of the defendant's attorney is on file with the author.
- 173. Todd Ruger, Jury Says Death, but Judge Sentences Man to Life, HERALD-TRIBUNE (Sarasota, Fla.), June 21, 2011.

25. Norman, Rhonda

July 2009

West Palm Beach

Jury Recommendation: 9-3¹⁷⁴ Trial Judge: Sandra McSorley¹⁷⁵

Defense Attorneys: Gregg Lerman and Michael Hanrahan¹⁷⁶

Case Synopsis: Convicted of the murder of her former boyfriend's mother, Jane Tackaberry, and the attempted murder of his six-year-old son. ¹⁷⁷ The state alleged that Norman urged Wes McGee (sentenced to life for his role after his jury recommended life) to commit the crime, which was apparently triggered by Norman's jealousy because her boyfriend was seeing another woman. ¹⁷⁸ Attorney Gregg Lerman speculated that Judge McSorley was persuaded to impose a life sentence because McGee, the actual killer, already had been sentenced to life; Ms. Norman cooperated with police investigators; Ms. Norman had significant mental health mitigation; and there was a possibility that the jury was improperly moved by what had happened to the minor child. ¹⁷⁹

26. Permenter, Timothy

October 2008

St. Petersburg

Jury Recommendation: 7-5¹⁸⁰ Trial Judge: R. Timothy Peters¹⁸¹ Defense Attorney: Bob McClure¹⁸²

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing his girlfriend, Karen Pannell, by stabbing her some sixteen times. 183 He had been convicted of sixteen

^{174.} Susan Spencer-Wendel, Vengeful Ex-Girlfriend Sentenced to Life in Prison for Brutal Murder of Ex-Boyfriend's Mother in West Palm Beach, PALM BEACH POST, July 30, 2009 [hereinafter Spencer-Wendel, Vengeful Ex-Girlfriend].

^{175.} Id.

^{176.} Id.

^{177.} *Id.*; Susan Spencer-Wendel, *Life in Prison for Woman Convicted of Murder;* Rhonda Norman Sentenced in Killing of Former Boyfriend's Mother, Sun-Sentinel (Fort Lauderdale, Fla.), July 31, 2009, at 3B [bereinafter Spencer-Wendel, *Life in Prison*].

^{178.} Spencer-Wendel, Vengeful Ex-Girlfriend, supra note 174; Spencer-Wendel, Life in Prison, supra note 177, at 3B.

^{179.} E-mail from Gregg Lerman, to author (Sept. 15, 2009) (on file with author).

^{180.} Jose Cardenas, Give Him Death, Jury Decides, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Nov. 17, 2007.

^{181.} Id.

^{182.} Id.

^{183.} Id.

previous felonies, six of which were crimes of violence.¹⁸⁴ At sentencing, extensive testimony was presented from mental health experts that supported the claim that Permenter was psychotic and that he came from a dysfunctional family.¹⁸⁵ Permenter was raised by his mother in the home of his paternal grandfather, Alex Finch, a former Clearwater mayor who was murdered in his office in 1989.¹⁸⁶

27. Robinson, Kevin

September 2003

Orlando

Jury recommendation: 8-4187

Trial Judge: A. Thomas Mihok¹⁸⁸ Defense Attorney: Andrea Black¹⁸⁹

Case Synopsis: Convicted of the murders of Ruth MacEachon and Pashion Morrison. ¹⁹⁰ The jury recommended life for MacEachon's killing, but death for the murder of Morrison. ¹⁹¹ Judge Mihok said that Robinson's attorneys had proven several factors to offset the death sentence, "including his immaturity, his mental state at the time of Morrison's death and a diagnosed 'borderline personality disorder.'" Robinson was also abused as a child. ¹⁹³ In 2004, Robinson died of natural causes while in prison. ¹⁹⁴

28. Roca-Moreno, Alfredo

May 2005

Titusville

Jury Recommendation: 7-5¹⁹⁵ Trial Judge: Warren Burk¹⁹⁶

^{184.} Id.

^{185.} Id.

^{186.} Id.

^{187.} Anthony Colarossi, Judge Spares Man Convicted in 1999 Car-Trunk Murders, ORLANDO SENTINEL, Sept. 30, 2003.

^{188.} Id.

^{189.} Id.

^{190.} Id.

^{191.} Id.

^{192.} Id.

^{193.} Id.

^{194.} Anthony Colarossi, Orlando Man Dies in Panhandle Prison; Kevin Robinson Suffered Seizures. He was Sentenced to Life in Prison After He Killed Two Women in 1999, ORLANDO SENTINEL, Mar. 11, 2004, at B3.

^{195.} Telephone Interview with Kenneth Studstill, attorney for Alfredo Roca-Moreno (July $10,\,2009$).

Defense Attorney: Kenneth Studstill¹⁹⁷

Case Synopsis: Roca-Moreno was found guilty of two counts of first-degree murder and one count of attempted first-degree murder. Roca-Moreno, Anthony Fernandez (who hanged himself shortly after his arrest), and Ernesto Rosa went to a trailer park to rob a purported marijuana dealer. After the robbery, the trio left the trailer, but were chased by the victim. He was shot, and the second victim was hit by a stray bullet. The victims were Kenneth Hines and Richard Wise, Jr. While this satisfied the criteria for felony murder, defense attorney Studstill argued that there was no evidence of heightened premeditation or intent. The 203 In 2006, Rosa was sentenced to eighteen years in prison for his role in the crime.

29. Rogers, Jr., Alvin

February 1997

Largo

Jury recommendation: 7-5²⁰⁵ Trial Judge: Brandt Downey²⁰⁶ Defense Attorney: David Parry²⁰⁷

Case Synopsis: Convicted of murdering seventeen-year-old Kimberly Leshore during a robbery of Church's Chicken in St. Petersburg.²⁰⁸ Rogers had been hospitalized thirty-nine times for mental illness, his mother hooked him on cocaine when he was eleven,²⁰⁹ and Judge Downey was concerned that his instructions to the jury had not been

^{196.} Zenaida A. Gonzalez, Jury Finds Man Guilty in Fatal Shootings, FLA. TODAY, Apr. 3, 2005; Jury Recommends Death for Roca-Moreno, FLA. TODAY, Apr. 6, 2005.

^{197.} Telephone Interview with Kenneth Studstill, supra note 195.

^{198.} Gonzalez, supra note 196; Jury Recommends Death for Roca-Moreno, supra note 196.

^{199.} Gonzalez, supra note 196; Jury Recommends Death for Roca-Moreno, supra note 196; Telephone Interview with Kenneth Studstill, supra note 195.

^{200.} Telephone Interview with Kenneth Studstill, supra note 195.

^{201.} Id.

^{202.} Gonzalez, supra note 196.

^{203.} Telephone Interview with Kenneth Studstill, supra note 195.

^{204.} John A. Torres, Murder Suspect OKs Plea Deal, Gets 18 Years, FLA. TODAY, Oct. 13, 2006, at B1.

^{205.} George Coryell, Jury Picks Death Penalty, TAMPA TRIB., Jan. 11, 1997.

^{206.} Id.

^{207.} Id.

^{208.} Ia

^{209.} Craig Pittman, Man Convicted in Teen's Slaying Apologizes, Gets Life Sentence, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Feb. 27, 1997, at 3B.

followed.²¹⁰ He believed a death sentence would have been overturned by the Florida Supreme Court.²¹¹

30. Rolle, Brandon

June 2011

Miami

Jury Recommendation: 8-4²¹² Trial Judge: J. Dennis Murphy²¹³

Defense Attorneys: Charles White and Bruce Fleisher²¹⁴

Case synopsis: Convicted of the murder of a tourist, who had gotten lost while driving a rental car and stopped to ask directions. In imposing the life sentence, Judge Murphy stated that the crime was not heinous enough to warrant the death penalty. In his words, "Only the worst of the worst are to be sentenced to death." Miami-Dade State Attorney Katherine Fernandez Rundle did not criticize the override. "We respect the role of the court, which has the ability to override the jury recommendation," she commented. "We did our job. He did his."²¹⁵

31. Saintil, Wilson

August 2008

Largo

Jury Recommendation: 9-3²¹⁶

Trial Judge: Nancy Moate Lev²¹⁷

Defense Attorneys: Dudley Clapp²¹⁸ and Michael Hays²¹⁹

Case Synopsis: Convicted of the murder of an assistant manager of a St. Petersburg steakhouse, Stephen Holmes.²²⁰ Approximately \$5,000 was

^{210.} David Sommer, Judge Sticks to His Plan, Spares Rogers from Death, TAMPA TRIB., Feb. 27, 1997, at 3.

^{211.} *Id*.

^{212.} Information on the jury recommendation is on file with the author.

^{213.} Information on the name trial judge is on file with the author.

^{214.} Information on the name of the defendant's attorney is on file with the author.

^{215.} David Ovalle, Miami Man Gets Life, Instead of Death Penalty, for Grove Tourist Murder, MIAMI HERALD, June 15, 2011.

^{216.} Chris Tisch, Judge Rejects Death Sentence, St. Petersburg Times (Fia.), Aug. 25, 2008.

^{217.} Id.

^{218.} Chris Tisch, Prep Cook Goes on Trial in Durango Murder, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Apr. 16, 2008, at 1B.

^{219.} Stephen Thompson, Assistant Manager Killed at St. Pete Steakhouse, TAMPA TRIB., Apr. 19, 2008, at Metro 2.

^{220.} Tisch, supra note 218.

also taken from the restaurant's safe.²²¹ Saintil was a cook and cleaner in the restaurant.²²² Holmes's father wrote a letter to Judge Ley stating that they opposed the death penalty, although Judge Ley stated that the law, and not the letter, guided her decision.²²³ Saintil had been abandoned as a child in Haiti and had an IQ of sixty-three.²²⁴ Nonetheless, he had performed well as a father.²²⁵

32-33. Saum, Dustin [judge overrode two death recommendations]

September 1996

Bartow

Jury recommendation: 9-3 (Waid) and 10-2 (Kelly)²²⁶

Trial Judge: Robert Young²²⁷

Defense Attorneys: Austin Maslanik and Rex Dimmig²²⁸

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing his father, Larry, and two neighbors, Michael Kelly and Carol Waid.²²⁹ The jury had rejected an insanity defense, but the judge did not.²³⁰ Prosecutors did not seek death for the father's murder.²³¹ The judge found that the murders were "the product of extreme emotional disturbance."²³²

34. Silas, Willie

November 1993

Miami

Jury recommendation: 7-5²³³ Trial Judge: Thomas Carney²³⁴ Defense Attorney: Clinton Pitts²³⁵

- 221. Id.
- 222. Id.
- 223. Id.
- 224. Id.
- 225. Id.
- 226. Susan Barbosa, Saum Receives Life in Prison; Judge Rejects Death Penalty, LAKELAND LEDGER, Sept. 21, 1996, at A1.
 - 227. Id.
 - 228. Id.
 - 229. Id.
- 230. Id.; Susan Barbosa, Defense Says Dustin Saum Was Emotionally Disturbed, LAKELAND LEDGER, Sept. 13, 1996, at B1.
 - 231. Barbosa, supra note 226, at A1.
 - 232. Id. (quoting Judge Young).
 - 233. Murderer Gets Life Instead of Death, TALLAHASSEE DEMOCRAT, Nov. 22, 1993.
 - 234. Id.
- 235. David Lyons, Jury Recommends Death Sentence in Canadian's Murder, MIAMI HERALD, Sept, 25, 1993, at B1.

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing a Canadian tourist, Gemma LaPointe, during an attempted robbery. ²³⁶ Judge Carney did not explain his decision, but the defense argued that the jury was improperly influenced by intense media coverage of violence against tourists. ²³⁷

35. Smith, Lawrence Joey

April 2008 Dade City

Jury recommendation: 7-5²³⁸ Trial Judge: Lynn Tepper²³⁹

Defense Attorney: Keith Hammond²⁴⁰

Case Synopsis: "[C]onvicted as the triggerman in the 1999 revenge shootings of teenage pals Robert Crawford and Stephen Tuttle" (Tuttle survived), "on orders from drug dealer Faunce Pearce" (who was sentenced to death). Two accomplices were not charged in exchange for cooperating with prosecutors. Two accomplices were not charged in exchange for cooperating with prosecutors. In that sentence was vacated by the Florida Supreme Court. Judge Tepper questioned the honesty of the accomplices and decried the disparate treatment (she stated that the prosecution never proved who the shooter was), and cited Smith's positive effect on other inmates.

36. Steverson, Bobby Lamar

September 1999

Bartow

Jury recommendation: 9-3²⁴⁵ Trial Judge: Dennis Maloney²⁴⁶

Defense Attorney: Larry Hardaway²⁴⁷

- 236. Murderer Gets Life Instead of Death, supra note 233.
- 237. Id.
- 238. Geoff Fox, Smith To Serve Life in Slaying of Teen, TAMPA TRIB., Apr. 23, 2008, at 1; Molly Moorhead, Life of Clever Killer Spared, St. Petersburg Times (Fla.), Apr. 23, 2008.
 - 239. Fox, supra note 238, at 1; Moorhead, supra note 238.
 - 240. Fox, supra note 238, at 1; Moorhead, supra note 238.
- 241. Tom Jackson, *In Capital Case, There Can Be No Doubts*, TAMPA TRIB., Apr. 24, 2008, http://www2.tbo.com/content/2008/apr/24/pa-in-capital-case-there-can-be-no-doubts/; Fox, *supra* note 238, at 1; Moorhead, *supra* note 238.
 - 242. Jackson, supra note 241; Fox, supra note 238, at 1; Moorhead, supra note 238.
 - 243. Smith v. State, 866 So.2d 51 (Fla. 2004).
 - 244. Fox, supra note 238, at 1; Moorhead, supra note 238.
- 245. Bill Henry, Judge Reconsiders, Issues Life Sentence, TAMPA TRIB., Sept. 4, 1999, at Metro 5.
 - 246. Id.

Case Synopsis: Convicted of the 1994 stabbing death of Robert Lucas.²⁴⁸ In 1995, Judge Maloney sentenced Steverson to death for the same crime, but that conviction was overturned by the Florida Supreme Court in 1997.²⁴⁹ Judge Maloney stated that the grounds for sentencing a person to death had narrowed between 1995 and 1999, and that a death sentence in this case would not survive proportionality review.²⁵⁰

37. Terranova, Joseph Angelo

November 1996

Tampa

Jury recommendation: 10-2²⁵¹ Trial Judge: J. Rogers Padgett²⁵²

Defense Attorneys: Dwight Wells (who withdrew before the second jury was impaneled, but who is responsible for the defendant's ultimate discharge) and John Skye²⁵³

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing his former girlfriend, Brenda Lee Turner, and her boyfriend, Michael Emerine, as they slept together in a trailer park.²⁵⁴ The first jury recommended death, 10-2, but the judge set aside that recommendation and set the case for a new sentencing hearing because even though the defendant had been found guilty of two counts of first-degree murder, only a single jury recommendation verdict had been submitted to the jury.²⁵⁵ A second jury was convened but discharged before any evidence was heard when a prospective juror reported to the judge that one of the seated jurors had stated during jury selection that she wanted to be on the jury because she thought the defendant should be "fried."²⁵⁶ Over the state's objection, Judge Padgett then made his decision to sentence the defendant to two consecutive life terms without a new jury recommendation.²⁵⁷ On appeal in 1999, the Second District Court of Appeal (in a decision written by future Florida

^{247.} Id.

^{248.} Jenna Deopere, *Judge Spares Convicted Killer's Life*, LAKELAND LEDGER, Sept. 4, 1999, at B1.

^{249.} Henry, *supra* note, 245, at Metro 5; Deopere, *supra* note 248, at B1; Steverson v. State, 695 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1997).

^{250.} Henry, supra note 245, at Metro 5; Deopere, supra note 248, at B1.

^{251.} Barbara Boyer, Man Gets Life in 2 Murders, TAMPA TRIB., Nov. 13, 1996, at Metro 6.

^{252.} Ia

^{253.} Letter from John J. Skye, Attorney for Joseph Terranova, to author (June 25, 2008) (on file with author); Boyer, *supra* note 251.

^{254.} Boyer, supra note 251.

^{255.} Id.

^{256.} Id.

^{257.} Id.; Letter from John J. Skye, supra note 253.

Supreme Court Justice Peggy Quince) vacated both of the convictions because the state's circumstantial evidence failed to prove a prima facie case of first-degree murder in either case, and the defendant was discharged.²⁵⁸

38. Tucker, Jason

August 2006

Viera

Jury Recommendation: 8-4²⁵⁹ Trial Judge: Lisa Davidson²⁶⁰

Defense Attorneys: Keith Szachacz and Kepler Funk²⁶¹

Case Synopsis: Tucker was convicted of the rape-murder of Joan Dunbar. 262 Judge Davidson noted that Tucker was just a few days past his eighteenth birthday at the time of the offense, and he suffered from mental health problems. 263 Tucker had prohibited his attorneys from putting on any mitigation during the penalty phase. 264

39. Walker, James

August 1998

Miami

Jury recommendation: 7-5 in 1994 trial²⁶⁵

Trial Judge: Michael Salmon²⁶⁶

Defense Attorneys: Brian McDonald (1994 trial)²⁶⁷

Stephen Harper, Ray Taseff, and Chris Spaulding (1998)²⁶⁸

Case Synopsis: Convicted of killing his former girlfriend and their seventeen-month-old son, binding them with duct tape, and throwing them into a canal.²⁶⁹ Walker was originally sentenced to death in 1994, at which time the trial court acknowledged significant child abuse, but

Terranova v. State, 764 So.2d 612 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1999).

^{259.} Kaustuv Basu, Convicted Killer Heads to Prison, Fla. Today, Aug. 17, 2006, at 1A; John A. Torres, Judge Might Grant Killer's Death Wish, Fla. Today, Aug. 16, 2006, at 1B.

^{260.} Basu, supra note 259, at 1A; Torres, supra note 259, at 1B.

^{261.} Basu, supra note 259, at 1A; Torres, supra note 259, at 1B.

^{262.} Basu, supra note 259, at 1A; Torres, supra note 259, at 1B.

^{263.} Basu, supra note 259, at 1A.

^{264.} Basu, supra note 259, at 1A; Torres, supra note 259, at 1B.

^{265.} Walker v. State, 707 So.2d 300, 307 (Fla. 1997).

^{266.} Walker v. Florida, No. 84,113, slip op. at 21 (Fla. Sept. 4, 1997), available at http://www.law.fsu.edu/library/flsupct/84113/op-84113.pdf.

^{267.} Information on the name of the defendant's attorney is on file with the author.

^{268.} E-mail from Stephen Harper, to author (July 2, 2008) (on file with author).

^{269.} Walker, 707 So.2d at 303-07.

gave it no weight.²⁷⁰ On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court ordered a resentencing (with no new jury empanelled or new jury recommendation).²⁷¹ The trial court was ordered to reweigh mitigation and give "careful and proper reconsideration" of the sentences, according "appropriate consideration and weight" to the "significant mitigating factor" of Walker's abusive upbringing.²⁷²

40. Williams, Walter E.

August 1994

Clearwater

Jury recommendation: 8-4²⁷³ Trial Judge: Karl Grube²⁷⁴

Defense Attorneys: Michael Schwartzberg and Richard Watts²⁷⁵

Case Synopsis: Williams was convicted of the 1988 murder of his three-month-old son.²⁷⁶ Williams had a prior conviction of aggravated child abuse for abusing his daughter in 1990, and was convicted of a 1989 attempted murder.²⁷⁷ Judge Grube cited the lack of premeditation, that Williams suffered from a slight emotional disturbance that prevented him from controlling his anger, and his cooperation with police (he would not have been prosecuted had he not confessed).²⁷⁸

^{270.} Id. at 318-19.

^{271.} Id. at 319.

^{272.} Id.

^{273.} William Yelverton, Judge Rejects Death Sentence, TAMPA TRIB., Aug. 27, 1994,

^{274.} Id.

^{275.} Id.

^{276.} *Id.*

^{277.} Id.

^{278.} Id.